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Performance report
Performance overview
This section includes a statement from the clinical chair and chief officer about our
performance over the past year, information about our CCG including our vision, and
an outline of some of the projects and initiatives on which we have focused during
2017-18.

Statement from the Clinical Chair and Chief Officer
Welcome to NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)’s
2017/18 annual report.
Over the past year, we have worked closely with our partners to maintain and
improve the quality of services, and improve the health and wellbeing of patients.
This includes a clear focus on tackling poor health outcomes and variation in care
within the resources we have available.
We have continued to focus on delivering the ambitions of the NHS Five year
Forward View and linking with the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership for
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and North Durham.
We are clear that people in Newcastle and Gateshead continue to receive high
quality healthcare services. We have built on these strengths, as well as improving
our financial performance.
One of our successes has been the Enhanced Health in Care Homes programme,
which has put Newcastle Gateshead at the forefront of work to improve health in
care homes. Its achievements include a decrease in 999 calls resulting in
conveyance to hospital, and a decrease in non-elective admissions.
People who use specialist mental health services and their families and carers are
helping us to implement the Deciding Together changes, following the previous
year’s award-winning consultation process. A series of detailed design workshops
created a comprehensive description of the community mental health services we
want to see in Gateshead and Newcastle, and we are now working to put this into
action, with the aim of ensuring seamless pathways in mental health in Newcastle
and Gateshead.
Practices in Newcastle and Gateshead are progressing well with implementing care
and support planning for people with more than one long-term condition, with an
evaluation across six practices showing 75% of patients saying they felt better able
to cope with their condition after a care and support planning consultation.
Meanwhile, detailed work looking at elective care is helping to improve the efficiency
of outpatient services and deliver a better patient experience.
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This year also saw us take on delegated commissioning responsibilities for primary
medical (GP) services. The 2017 GP Patient Survey showed practices in our area
being rated among the best in England, with 87% of people in Newcastle and
Gateshead rating their experiences as ‘good’.
As part of the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network,
we are part of a well-coordinated regional system which is helping to reduce hospital
admissions and A&E attendances, make better use of GPs and pharmacists, and
help patients improve their own health. This joint working and real-time demand
monitoring helped the North East’s hospitals to perform better than any other region
in England against the four-hour A&E target during the winter.
Finally, we would like to take this opportunity to thank our member practices,
partners, staff and patients for all their hard work throughout 2017/18.
We look forward to continuing to work with you.

Dr Guy Pilkington
Clinical Chair (2017/18)
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Mark Adams
Accountable Officer

About NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is the statutory
health body responsible for planning and buying (commissioning) local NHS care
and services to meet the needs of the local community. Our membership consists of
63 GP practices and we are responsible for a population of approximately half a
million people across Newcastle and Gateshead.
We commission high quality care, using the most appropriate methods and costeffective resources, to improve healthcare provision for the people of Newcastle and
Gateshead and reduce disparities in health and social care. By using effective
clinical decision-making we can make a real impact on the health, wellbeing and life
expectancy of our patients.
We know the NHS is facing a period of unprecedented challenges which are not
unique to our area. These challenges are driven by the following:


An ageing population with increasing health needs



Health inequalities across the area



Levels of smoking, alcohol consumption and obesity higher than the
national average



Over-reliance on hospital based services



Increasing high cost drugs and cost of new medical technologies



Limited growth in financial allocations in future years

In response to these challenges, our collective ambition is to maintain high quality
and sustainable health and care services for our public and patients, which we will
achieve through:


Ensuring our citizens are fully engaged



Wider primary care provided at scale



A modern model of integrated care



Access to the highest quality urgent and emergency care



A step change in the productivity of elective care



Specialised services concentrated in centres of excellence
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Our vision
Our vision is to transform lives together by prioritising:


Involvement: of people in our communities and providers to get the best
understanding of issues and opportunities



Experience: people-centred services that are some of the best in the
country



Outcome: focusing on preventing illness and reducing inequalities

This is summarised in the diagram below:

NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG vision

We have continued to progress with the development of the new care models
described within the NHS Five Year Forward View. In line with this, our major areas
of transformation for 2017/18 continued to be:


Mental Health Services



Urgent and Emergency Care Strategy



Care Homes Vanguard
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Implementation of the General Practice Forward View



System working and new models of health and care systems

In order to ensure our priorities were aligned with this, we linked each of our priorities
to these key areas of focus. This can be seen in the ‘plan on a page’, given as figure
1, below.
We will continue to work with partners, stakeholders, the clinical community, patients
and the public to develop long term ‘Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships.’

Plan on a page
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A summary of our main areas of work and some of our achievements in 2017/18 is
outlined below.
Mental health services
Deciding Together, Delivering Together
The award-winning Deciding Together, Delivering Together Transformation
Programme process saw the CCG and its partners asking people who use specialist
mental health services, their families, carers, mental health professionals and service
providers for their views on improving the way specialist adult mental health services
are arranged in Gateshead and Newcastle.
To ensure the redesign was comprehensive, the CCG extended the scope of
Deciding Together to include:


Older people’s mental health services in Gateshead



Third sector mental health services, and the wider community and
voluntary sector



Social care and other local authority services



Interface with GP services



Interface with employment and housing

Following extensive desk top data analysis and preliminary stakeholder engagement,
we held four week-long design workshops to take this work forward. More than 70
people took part, including service users and carers. The workshops created a
comprehensive description of the community mental health services to be created in
Gateshead and Newcastle, under four themes:


Getting help when you need it



Understanding need and planning support



Delivering support



Staying well

We are now working to put this comprehensive service description into action, with
the aim of ensuring seamless pathways in mental health in Newcastle and
Gateshead.
Children and Young People Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing Local
Transformation Plan
The Department of Health and Social Care and NHS England recent report ‘Future in
Mind’ Promoting, protecting and improving our children and young people’s mental
health and wellbeing’ called for a step change in the way care is delivered moving
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away from a tiered model towards one built around the needs of children, young
people and their families.
Key themes are identified as fundamental to creating a system that properly supports
the emotional wellbeing and mental health of children and young people. Themes
include:


Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention



Improving access to effective support – a system without tiers



Care for the most vulnerable



Accountability and transparency



Developing the workforce

The Newcastle and Gateshead Transformation Plan for Children and Young
People’s Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing will concentrate on achieving these
aspirations and clearly articulate the local offer. The initial phases of the
transformation programme consist of developing a single point of access (SPA) to all
mental health provider services.
This work is supported by an active group of ‘Young Commissioners,’ aged 13 to 19
(or up to 25 if the young person has learning difficulties or disabilities).
The Young Commissioners work alongside statutory commissioners to help us
shape the future design of mental health services to better suit the needs of children,
young people and families. The Young Commissioners once trained will also act in a
challenge and scrutiny role and encourage wider involvement of young people.
Older people
Enhanced Health in Care Homes - (Gateshead and Newcastle vanguard)
As one of only six care home vanguards in the national New Models of Care
programme, Newcastle Gateshead is at the forefront of work to improve health in
care homes.
Recently described as ‘phenomenal’ by the national lead for Enhanced Health in
Care Homes, Newcastle Gateshead has emerged as the highest performing
vanguard in the programme with these achievements:


9% decrease in 999 calls resulting in conveyance to hospital, and an
overall decrease in the number of 999 calls



35% decrease in non-elective admissions for urine infection



17% decrease in non-elective admissions for chest infections



26% decrease in oral nutritional supplement prescribing (15,000 fewer
prescriptions)
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11% increase in the number of patients dying in their place of choice.
Improved care planning and recording means we now have a baseline to
further increase this

We have made major progress in sharing and celebrating the learning from our
vanguard - locally, regionally, nationally and internationally, through publications,
research, events and presentations. This has included the Pathway of Care (PoC)
team being shortlisted for the Nursing Times Team of the Year award.
While further work is needed to measure the sustainability and impact of our work
over a longer period, the regional Frailty Framework provides an opportunity to
achieve this using standards and metrics as well as a community of practice
mirroring the Pathway of Care approach to clinical engagement.
Children, young people and families
The Little Orange Book
The Little Orange Book continues to help parents of under-fives with practical
information about common childhood conditions.
The Little Orange Book is focused on acute illness in young children and helps
parents and carers to recognise and then respond appropriately to a range of
diseases, illness and conditions as well as signposting parents to the most
appropriate service or clinician should they need further support.
The booklet is distributed in Newcastle and Gateshead through health visitors to
pregnant women at their 28-week antenatal visit, at postnatal checks and baby and
toddler health visitor clinics, schools, children centres, pharmacists and GP
surgeries. We aim for each household to have a copy, with 70,000 copies distributed
so far.

Schools
The CCG carries out awareness-raising assemblies for Year 9 students, delivered by
GPs and school nurses. These help to inform pupils as to what GPs and school
nurses can do to support their health and wellbeing, as well as how to make an
appointment and access confidential help from their GP.
This project has engaged local GPs and encouraged them to visit their local schools,
as well as helping signpost young people away from inappropriate use of urgent care
services such as A+E. Further work has included GPs and senior teachers coming
together to look at areas in which education and primary care services can work
together. These areas include:


Children and Young People (C&YP) with Long Term Conditions/ Complex
needs



Prolonged/Persistent Absenteeism
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Information Sharing

Long-term conditions
We work hard to improve care and support for people with one or more long term
conditions, building on a recent consultation which looked at how people manage
their long-term condition, what problems occur and what they thought would help.
Care and support planning
Practices in Newcastle and Gateshead are progressing well with implementing care
and support planning for people with more than one long-term condition (LTC),
based on the ‘Year of Care’ approach. Care and support planning is a proactive
approach to managing long-term conditions, based on encouraging patients to talk
about what really matters to them, identify goals and agree an action plan. Where
appropriate, it can also involve linking the patient with activities in a supportive
community.
This work is building on the House of Care project, which has helped practices to
adopt the principles of care and support planning, with support from a LTC patient
group and a team of local clinicians who trained as Year of Care trainers. The project
also funded practices to deliver care and support planning multi-morbidity clinics and
local link workers to enable social prescribing.
A comprehensive evaluation across six practices showed a significant impact, with
75% of LTC patients saying they felt better able to cope with their condition after a
care and support planning consultation.

Diabetes education
This year saw the start of an expanded and improved education service for patients
with type 2 diabetes. This service has increased our capacity to work with people
diagnosed with type 2 diabetes so that they can learn more about their condition,
either by attending a group or online if they prefer.
In addition, we have secured funding from NHS England to increase the number of
people with diabetes who attend education sessions to learn more about their
condition.

Personal Health Budgets
The CCG is able to offer personal health budgets to:


Adults who receive NHS continuing healthcare support



Children and young people who receive NHS continuing healthcare
support
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Adults and children with learning disabilities and/or autism who have
complex health needs



Children who have special education needs and disabilities as part of their
education, health and care plan

Part of the plans for 18/19 will look to develop awareness and improve access to
psychological therapies for people with long term conditions.

Planned care
In 2017/18 we carried out some specific work looking at elective care, initially looking
at outpatient follow ups. This was quickly expanded to all aspects of outpatient care
from the initial referral to patient discharge and follow up.
The CCG GP planned care lead and secondary care clinician have been working
methodically through the larger outpatient specialties and reviewing with their
secondary care colleagues and consultants how best to improve the efficiency of
outpatient services whilst delivering a better patient experience. This will continue via
the elective care transformation program that is being initiated in 2018/19.
In conjunction with the Practice Engagement Programme (PEP), practices from
Newcastle and Gateshead were encouraged to use additional advice and guidance
offers from both our Hospital Trusts, this work will continue in 2018/19 and has
reduced first outpatient attendances by about 5,000 in 2017/18.
Practices have dramatically increased the use of e-referrals for Consultant led clinics
/ services as the CCG promotes the move towards paperless referrals. In 2017/18
GP direct access to imaging for musculoskeletal related problems was reviewed and
access to MRI imaging has been standardised across the Newcastle and Gateshead
localities. Variation in use of other imaging will be addressed in 2018/19.
Urgent care
Right care, time and place
Between November 2017 and January 2018, we held a listening exercise on urgent
care services in Newcastle.
The exercise considered how to improve urgent care services for patients across
Newcastle and to identify possible solutions, enabling patients to access care from
the right clinician, at the right time, in the right place.
The listening exercise links to the Government’s review of the NHS urgent and
emergency care system in England announced in 2013 and further
recommendations made in 2017.
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With demand and expectations for urgent care services growing year on year and
urgent care services in Newcastle varying opening times and the service they
provide, there is significant confusion for the public when trying to access services.
In addition, the number of people presenting at the Emergency Department (ED) is
rising as many people now bypass other more appropriate services and use the ED
as their first port of call.
This exercise gathered vital information about how different groups use urgent care,
the accessibility of services, transport issues and ideas for the future. The CCG is
now analysing and considering the findings, which will help to shape a series of
possible scenarios for the future.
Implementing the General Practice Forward View
Building on our General Practice strategy, our vision for general practice in the
Newcastle Gateshead CCG area is:


Groups of practices working together at scale, delivering new models of
care that are integrated with community services, secondary care, social
care and the voluntary sector



A flexible workforce with enhanced skills across the system to deliver
higher quality care and improved access



Patients seeing the right person, at the right time, in the right place



Clinical systems and a shared clinical record that support the new care
models

On 1 April 2017, we took on delegated commissioning responsibilities for primary
medical (GP) services from NHS England. Since then we have been responsible for
the commissioning, procurement and management of primary medical services.
Patients in Newcastle and Gateshead provided positive feedback about their overall
experience when using their GP practice, with practices in our area being rated as
some of the best in England in the 2017 GP Patient Survey.
Almost 7,000 people in the area took part in the survey, with 87% of people in
Newcastle and Gateshead rating their experiences as ‘good’ – higher than the
national average of 85%.

North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network
The North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care Network brings
together over 30 organisations to improve the quality, safety and equity of services.
Established through the New Models of Care (vanguards) programme, the network
has led on a range of innovations which have helped the region to record some of
England’s best A&E performance figures.
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With its ‘vanguard’ work now completed, the network is focused on a three-year
strategy to reduce hospital admissions and A&E attendances, to make better use of
GPs and pharmacists, and to help patients improve their own health.
Through the network, our hospitals work together as a single, well-coordinated
system, monitoring demand, sharing information in real time, and supporting each
other through busy periods. This means emergency responses are better
coordinated and the risk of queueing ambulances and unnecessarily long waits in
A&E is reduced.
These shared initiatives, alongside careful planning and the skill, commitment and
hard work of staff throughout our NHS and partner organisations has helped to
ensure that the region was in a strong position to cope with this year’s winter
pressures compared with other parts of England.
Northern Clinical Commissioning Group Forum
In common with all CCGs in the region, we play an active role in the Northern
Clinical Commissioning Group Forum. The CCGs work together through the forum
where it makes sense to do so, to advise and make recommendations to the CCG
governing bodies to assist them in carrying out their commissioning business.
The forum provides leadership to the North East and North Cumbria health system,
address national and regional policy issues and carry out business on a joint basis
where this will achieve the best outcome. This includes areas like winter pressures,
implementation of new services and avoidance of inequitable treatment through
‘postcode prescribing’.
During 2017/18 the forum has considered and made recommendations to CCG
governing bodies in relation to:


Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) delivery architecture and
governance



Regional value-based commissioning policy



Choice policy for drugs used to treat wet age-related macular
degeneration



Setting up a Joint CCG Committee for Cumbria and the North East



Growing the GP workforce



Specialised commissioning



Current and future provision of urgent and emergency care services



Procurement and evaluation of NHS 111 and the Integrated Care Clinical
Assessment Service



Optimisation of acute hospital services
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Support for medical student expansion proposals – Newcastle and
Sunderland universities



Governance for Regional Medicines Optimisation Committee decisions



Demand management endoscopy project

In October 2017, a Northern CCG Joint Committee was set up to make decisions on
a more limited range subjects recommended to it by the forum. To date it has
focused on specialist acute services and the NHS 111 service. Further information
on the workings of the Northern CCG Joint Committee are contained within the
accountability report later in this document.
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP)
The NHS across the region is working together on shared plans to transform health
and care in the communities we serve. In the past, organisations have each had their
own plans, and they will continue to do so – but STPs are the first time shared plans
have been developed across a geographical footprint.
STP footprints are not new, statutory organisations. Our STP is a vehicle to bring
people and organisations together to develop a shared plan for better health and
care for our local areas.
Draft plans for Northumberland, Tyne, Wear and North Durham were shared during
winter 2016/17, and the feedback was published in summer 2017.
The background to the development of STPs is in the NHS Five Year Forward View.
There is broad agreement that, in order to create a better future for the NHS, we
need to adapt the way we do things. That doesn’t mean doing less for patients or
reducing the quality of care. It means more preventative care; finding new ways to
meet people’s needs; and identifying ways to do things more efficiently.
It’s important to note that STPs will not necessarily replace existing plans to improve
services in an area. Instead it will act as an ‘umbrella’ plan: holding underneath it a
number of different specific plans to address certain challenges, such as improving
cancer diagnosis, mental health care, or transforming urgent and emergency care
services.
Having a shared STP across a local community does not mean that any
organisations in the partnership will lose their own autonomy or identity. But it does
mean we will be working to a shared, agreed plan which addresses how we
collectively improve health, care and finance for our local populations by 2021.
Towards the end of 2017, discussions between the STP leads in the North East and
Cumbria looked towards bringing the three STP footprints of NTW, North Cumbria
and Durham, Darlington, Tees, Hambleton, Richmond and Whitby together under a
single governance arrangement.
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Performance summary
Measuring our performance helps us to ensure our services are delivered to a quality
standard and provide value for money. The CCG has internal processes in place to
manage performance against the range of indicators including a mechanism to work
with internal and external colleagues to identify areas of risk, and implementation of
action plans to mitigate these.
This ensures improvements in performance are delivered. Throughout the year,
reports are provided to our Governing Body setting out our performance against the
agreed local and national measures. Monitoring performance also helps us in
understanding the effectiveness of services, together with the role of quality
assurance and financial management.
Key issues and risks
Information about our key issues and risks is given in the governance statement,
which is part of the accountability report later in this document. The major risk to the
CCG throughout 2017/18 related to meeting the statutory financial duties and
achieving the control total set by NHS England. This continues to be a risk into
2018/19, as increasing pressures on the CCG finances continue, particularly from
demographic pressures. Another major risk in 2017/18 concerned the sustainability
of General Practice in Newcastle and Gateshead, due to a range of factors such as
workforce, resilience and capacity. Again, this risk remains a risk into 2018/19, with
controls in place to help mitigate adverse impacts.

Performance measures
We have continued to work hard to achieve our targets as set out by the NHS
Constitution and the CCG Assurance Framework. Here we highlight our performance
against the key areas, such as A&E four hour waits, ambulance handover times,
cancer waiting times, referral to treatment, our local quality indicators, healthcare
acquired infections and mental health. The most up to date available data has been
used to prepare this report. We also give details of our performance against the key
clinical priority areas as published on my NHS, our financial performance and our
approach to sustainable development.
All clinical commissioning groups in England are subject to a comprehensive annual
assessment which is led by NHS England. This examines key components and
considers the strengths, challenges and areas for improvement before applying a
headline rating of outstanding, good, requires improvement or inadequate.
Despite continued good quality services and leadership, the CCG was awarded an
overall rating of “requires improvement”, in 2016/17, a rating largely due to the
financial performance where a surplus of £10.7m was delivered against an
expectation of £15.2m.
We have put in place a range of measures to ensure our financial performance in
2017/18 continues to be monitored closely (as described in the financial performance
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section below), whist continuing to focus on quality services and ensuring patient
safety.
Clinical Priority areas
The Forward View and the NHS planning guidance set out national ambitions for
transformation in 6 clinical priorities areas - Mental Health, Dementia, Learning
Disabilities, Cancer, Maternity and Diabetes.
National ratings have been published in 2017/18 for 4 of the 6 clinical priority areas,
and Newcastle Gateshead CCG continues to perform very well, maintaining an
“outstanding” rating for Dementia and Diabetes, and receiving a “good” rating for
Mental Health and Cancer. Although ratings have not yet been published for
Maternity and Learning Disabilities clinical priority areas, the CCG has developed an
action plan for each of the 6 areas.

Outcome framework
CCG performance is reviewed by NHS England to ensure that it is delivering quality
outcomes for patients, both locally and as part of the national standards. In some
areas we are performing particularly well, but there are some areas that still require
improvement.
G
A

= Met expected standard
= Just below expected standard

Urgent care performance
A&E Four hour waits

A

The principal measure used to assess local urgent care performance is the standard
that 95% of patients attending A&E will be admitted or discharged within four hours.
In 2017/18 data as at March 2018 show that 94.2% of Newcastle Gateshead CCG
patients were admitted or discharged within four hours. Performance at Gateshead
Health NHS FT was marginally below the standard at 94.6% as at March 2018 year
to date, as was performance at Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS FT which was
93.9% as at March 2018 to date, due to a number of contributing factors not least
higher than expected attendance from other areas. A recovery action plan is
currently in place for 2018/19.
Ambulance Response Times
In July 2017 NHSE published a new set of performance standards for the English
ambulance services through the national Ambulance Response Programme (ARP).
It is expected that changing the performance standards (set 1974), will free up more
ambulance crews to respond to emergencies, giving the opportunity to send the
most appropriate response to each patient first time. Following the publication of the
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new standards, there will be no national reporting on NEAS response times until
April 2018.
A&E decision to admit to admission > 12 hours

G

Neither Gateshead Health NHS FT nor the Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS FT
had any incidents of patients waiting more than 12 hours from the decision to admit
to actual admission.
Cancer waiting times

G

The NHS Constitution required that CCGs must achieve a set of cancer waiting
times standards. All key standards are currently being met for the patients of
Newcastle Gateshead CCG in respect of:
Two week wait (2WW) all cancers

G

In 2017/18 the data as at February 2018 show that the percentage of patients who
are currently receiving an outpatient appointment within two weeks when referred by
their GP is currently at the required level.
Two week wait (2WW) breast symptomatic

G

In 2017/18 the data as at February 2018 show the percentage of patients who were
referred urgently for an outpatient appointment with breast symptoms and received
their appointment within two weeks is currently at the required level.
31 day first treatment – all cancers

G

In 2017/18 the data as at February 2018 show that the percentage of patients who
were diagnosed with cancer who commenced treatment within 31 days was within
the required standard.
62 day GP referral to first treatment for cancer

G

In 2017/18 the data as at February 2018 show that the percentage of patients who
were diagnosed with cancer and commenced treatment within 62 days, following an
urgent referral from their GP is currently above the required standard.
Other cancer standards
In 2017/18 the data as at February 2018 show that other cancer measures are
currently performing within required standards:
o 31 day treatment – surgery

G

o 31 day treatment –drugs

G

o 31 day treatment – radiotherapy

G
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o 62 day screening to first treatment for cancer

Healthcare associated infections (HCAI)

G

A

All CCGs have objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England. There is a zero tolerance
of MRSA (Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus), so all commissioners and
providers targets are zero. Organisations across the North East have demonstrated
an improvement in the HCAI rates compared to 2016/17 and it has been
acknowledged nationally that there have been significant improvements over recent
years. CCGs are required to meet national standards for clostridium difficile (CDiff)
and MRSA.
In 2017/18 the data as at March 2018 show that there have been four published
cases of MRSA at Newcastle Hospitals NHS FT and no published cases of MRSA at
Gateshead Health NHS FT. There have been 2 cases of MRSA attributed to
Newcastle Gateshead CCG. Newcastle Gateshead CCG was marginally outside the
annual threshold for the maximum number of cases of C Diff as at March 2018 with
144 cases in 2017/18 (against the threshold of 142 for the year).
Newcastle Gateshead CCG continues to host the Healthcare Acquired Infection
Partnership to jointly review action plans and share leaning across Northumbria
Healthcare NHS FT, Gateshead Health NHS FT and Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals
NHS FT.
Improving access to psychological therapies
Access

G

Newcastle Gateshead CCG continues to deliver good access to psychological
therapies for patients diagnosed with depression or anxiety, at a level in excess of
the 15% national requirement as at November 2017. There is a requirement to
move towards a level of 16.9% in January to March 2018 and there is an action plan
in place in Newcastle to address this.
Waiting times

G

Newcastle Gateshead patients accessing psychological therapies are currently
waiting less than 6 and 18 weeks for their initial appointment in Newcastle and
Gateshead which is within the required standards)
Moving to recovery

G

51.9% of Newcastle Gateshead CCG patients accessing psychological therapies
move to recovery (based on data as at November 2017) which is in excess of the
national requirement of 50%.
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Mixed sex accommodation

A

Under the NHS Constitution, providers of NHS funded care are expected to eliminate
mixed-sex accommodation. There have been no breaches of mixed-sex
accommodation in 2017/18 locally at The Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS FT or
Gateshead Health NHS FT, although one Newcastle Gateshead CCG patient
breached in December at East Cheshire NHS (Macclesfield District General
Hospital).
Referral to treatment

G

In 2017/18 data as at February 2018 show that 93.9% of Newcastle Gateshead CCG
patients who continued to wait for treatment had been waiting less than 18 weeks,
well above the required standard of 92%.
Friends and family test
The friends and family test is intended to be a simple assessment which measures
patient experience of our main acute providers. Current experience at Newcastle
upon Tyne Hospitals NHS FT and Gateshead Health NHS FT has been reported by
patients as positive, and response rates have been improving.

Financial performance
The Governing Body approved a commissioning budget for 2017/18 based on an
initial allocation of £714.2m, plus the running costs allowance of £10.6m. In addition
the CCG received its delegated Primary Care Commissioning Budget at £67.4m,
giving an overall in year funding envelope of £792.2m. The CCG reported a
cumulative surplus of £10.7m in 2016/17 and set financial plans to achieve a
2017/18 control total of £10.2m for 2017/18. This required in year breakeven on
funding with £0.5m approved drawdown on the cumulative surplus, with a further
0.5% (£3.5m) held as an uncommitted reserve.
As set out in the 2017/18 NHS Planning Guidance, CCGs were required to hold the
0.5% reserve uncommitted from the start of the year, created by setting aside the
monies that CCGs were otherwise required to spend non-recurrently. In March 2018
it was confirmed that this would need to be released in full to create additional in
year surplus for the CCG and contribute to the wider financial position of the NHS.
In addition further benefit was anticipated from drugs costs changes, with the
expectation that this be released to add to each CCG’s in year surplus. The reported
position is an in year surplus of £4.7m for 2017/18 which, added to previous years
figures gives a cumulative surplus of £14.9m.
The final in year resource allocation for the CCG in 2017/18 was £800m, against
which expenditure totalled £795m and was applied in the following way:
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Key financial performance indicators
Revenue resource limit
The CCG’s performance for 2017/18 is as follows:
Revenue resource limit

2017/18
£000

Total net operating cost for the financial year

794,743

Final revenue resource limit for year

799,454

Underspend against revenue resource limit

4,711

Better Payment Practice Code
There is a financial obligation under the Better Practice Payment Code to pay 95% of
creditors within 30 days of invoicing or receipt of invoice or goods, whichever is the
later. Overall performance for the year was that 97.13% of correctly addressed and
undisputed invoices were paid within the required 30 days as a percentage of the
total value of invoices paid and 99.47% as a percentage of the total number of
invoices paid in the year.
Better Payment Practice Code

2017/18

2017/18

Number

£000

Total bills paid in the year

16,343

194,648

Total bills paid within target

15,861

193,022

97.05%

99.16%

Total bills paid in the year

3,332

516,154

Total bills paid within target

3,250

514,005

97.54%

99.58%

Non-NHS creditors

Percentage of bills paid within target

NHS creditors

Percentage of bills paid within target
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Running costs
The CCG is required to maintain running costs within a total allowance of £10.6m in
2017/18. The broad definition of running costs is that it will include any cost incurred
that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare related
services.
Running costs

2017/18

Running costs (£000)

8,628

Population (number)

483,303

Running cost per head of weighted population (£)

17.85

Looking ahead
2018/19 will be the fourth year of operation for Newcastle Gateshead CCG, during
which we expect to see continued emphasis on system-wide planning, both across
health and social care in Newcastle and Gateshead and over our wider Sustainability
and Transformation footprint.
Funding allocations move into the final year of the three year cycle published in
January 2015, with growth in the funding allocation for Newcastle Gateshead CCG
planned to range between 2% and 3.7% to 2020/21. Revised allocations were
released in February 2018 which increased the funding increase for 2017/18 from
2% to 2.8%, together with updated planning guidance indicated that expectations
regarding provision for activity growth and five year forward view investments would
need to be met from this.
The total change in allocations summarised below:
Programme
Budget
2018/19 Funding Allocations:
2017/18 Recurrent Funding
Programme budget growth 2.8%

£m
719.1

Primary Care CoRunning
Commissioning
Cost Budget
Budget
£m
£m
10.5

20.0

Opening Recurrent Allocations
Non Rec Funding
Total Funding Allocations
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1.8
-4.7
734.4

796.1

1.8
-4.7

10.5

68.2

0.7
735.1

£m

20.0

Primary care budget growth 2.7%
Other recurrent adjustments

66.4

TOTAL

813.2
0.7

10.5

68.2

813.9

Programme growth in 2018/19 is offset by recurrent reductions for specialised
commissioning transfers and tariff changes which were previously implemented non
recurrently in 2017/18.
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG has set an initial budget for 2018/19 for the
following commissioned services:
£m
Acute services

370

Mental health and learning disabilities contracts

73

Community contracts

62

Ambulance contracts

20

Continuing care and funded nursing care/S117

71

Primary care and prescribing

97

Primary care commissioning

68

Other services

42

Total

803

A finance and activity plan has been formulated that brings together the
commissioning plans of the CCG with the delivery of national business
rules/planning guidance, and the expected contract activity and costs for 2018/19,
whilst maintaining the financial obligations of the CCG.
Key assumptions within the plan meet the national business rules and include:


Provision of 0.5% contingency, totalling £3.9m



A control total of breakeven with £0.3m drawdown on cumulative surplus



Net acute tariff increase of 0.1%



Provision for £3 per head primary care transformation funding and to achieve
the mental health investment standard



Anticipated Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) plans at
£22.2m.

Budgeted commissioning spend has also been adjusted for anticipated growth in line
with sustainability and transformation partnership estimates, as well as the impact of
planned investments and efficiency saving.
Our Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) plans total £22m, which
represents 2.7% of the total CCG revenue resource limit. They include a range of
specific schemes, including initiatives to reduce costs in primary and secondary care
prescribing, implementing the Right Care programme and plans focused on
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managing growth in acute planned and urgent care. Where appropriate partner have
been engaged to support delivery and risk assessments developed to manage and
mitigate in year implementation issues if they arise.
The financial environment continues to be challenging for both commissioners and
providers in 2018/19, with all partners working across the health economy to balance
improvements in quality and performance in patient care with the need to deliver
financial sustainability now and in the future.
We are working with partners across the North East and Cumbria area to refresh the
overall financial plans, taking into account each organisation’s operational plans for
the next two years. We will use this to re-assess the scale of the financial challenge
across the health economy and drive forward solutions to ensure we can continue to
deliver improvements over the three years to 2020/21.
The wider STP plan outlines our assessment of gaps in wellbeing and health, quality
of services and financial sustainability together with how these will be met across the
period, in line with the objectives set out in the NHS Forward View.
Annual accounts
The annual accounts and primary financial statements for the reporting period have
been approved by the Governing Body as being prepared under directions issued by
NHS England and represent a true and fair view of the financial standing of the CCG.
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Sustainable Development
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to
work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission
and procure healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money well,
the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient
communities.
By making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve
health both in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of
natural resources. Spending money well and considering the social and
environmental impacts is enshrined in the Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012).
We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the
environment by working hard to minimise our footprint.
Policies
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in
our process and procedures sustainability features.
Area

Is sustainability considered?

Procurement
(environmental & social aspects)
Suppliers' impact
Business Cases
Travel

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Travel
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by
promoting active travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and
public that use the services we commission.

Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies
across the board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for
active travel to improve staff wellbeing and reduce sickness.
Category
Staff commute

Mode
miles
tCO2e

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

110,471

143,132

94,141

39.95

51.73

33.54

The CCG actively manages business travel and encourages staff to use technology
for meetings e.g. tele-conferencing and when travel is needed, staff are encouraged
to travel together and to use the CCG’s electric vehicle.
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Improve quality and safety
The CCG has a clear mechanism in place to discharge its duty under Section 14R of
the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) to improve the quality of services, as described in
section 5.2.4 of the CCG Constitution. The aim of the CCG is to ensure that the
delivery of the commissioned health services are based on a clinically led, patient
focused and evidence based approach.
As identified in CCG’s Quality Strategy, the CCG utilises the Keogh framework to
assure the quality of the services it commissions from all sectors. This four stage
methodology of quality data analysis, triangulation, multi-disciplinary reviews and
quality improvement ensures consistency in the approach taken to monitoring,
assuring and improving service quality across all types of provider.
The CCG meets regularly with providers to review performance, quality and safety.
These meetings and associated work are reported for assurance to the CCG Quality,
Safety and Risk Committee. This is a committee of the Governing Body; more
information about the work of the committee is given in the Governance Statement.
The CCG has also implemented a General Practice Assurance Framework. This
utilises data from NHS England, combined with local measures and soft intelligence
to provide an all-round view of practice quality and to risk rate each practice. Those
practices that are risk rated as red are visited by the quality team in order to better
understand the issues facing the practice. Each red or amber rated practice is
required to produce and regularly update an action plan, which is reviewed by the
CCG, in order to demonstrate progress in quality improvement.
During 2017/18, the programme consisted of a total of 27 commissioner led visits.
This is a marked increase over the 2016/17 and 2015/16 programmes, when 17 and
12 visits took place respectively. In order to obtain the widest range of views
possible during each visit, the visiting team is normally three or four individuals and
consists of a clinical member, a lay member (or patient representative) and CCG and
NECS Quality team members.
As in previous years, overall the visits have been very positive and demonstrated
care which is being delivered to a high standard by professional and caring staff. The
visits did not identify any significant concerns and where recommendations were
made these were minor in nature.
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Engaging people and communities
Patient involvement and experience is at the heart of our work. Our aim is to
transform lives together by prioritising:


Involvement - of our communities and providers, to get the best
understanding of issues and opportunities



Experience – people centred services that are some of the best in the
country



Outcome – focusing on preventing illness

During the past year, the CCG has been assessed as ‘Good’ by NHS England for its
work to encourage patient and public participation, as well as being awarded a level
of ‘substantial assurance’ from Audit One.

How we engage
In March, our Executive Committee agreed a new structure for stakeholder
engagement which brings together patients and organisations from both Newcastle
and Gateshead to focus on shared themes as well as areas of concern to specific
localities.
The new structure, which reports regularly to our Governing Body and Executive,
includes three dedicated forums:


Patient, public and carer engagement forum - where patients and
carers can share their views with CCG decision-makers and influence
decision making



Involvement forum – which ensures that the voices of patients, public
and carers are embedded in the business of the CCG and its partners



Community forum – which brings together professionals representing
specific groups with protected characteristics and people in minority
communities with experience of being marginalised, to have a say in
commissioning decisions and local services

The new structure will help us to engage more effectively, offer wider opportunities to
get involved and make better use of our resources. It will be reviewed during 2018,
with support from Healthwatch.
Through our involvement strategy, we engage with a wide range of community,
voluntary and patient participation groups. This includes:


Bi-monthly meetings of the patient, public, carer and involvement forum
meetings, and quarterly community forum meetings
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Patient representatives who take part in the commissioner visit
programme



Involvement contracts with Involve North East, the Health and Race
Equality Forum and Deaflink



Close working relationships with the community and voluntary sector,
existing patient and community groups



Providing information in accessible formats, as well as making effective
use of the MY NHS database and the ‘Get Involved’ section on our
website



Reimbursing travel expenses to enable people to participate in events



Themed events or meetings, such as Urgent Care listening events and
Deciding Together, Delivering Together mental health events



Focus groups, which can be carried out by community and voluntary
organisations with their communities



One to one and telephone interviews, social media, on-street surveys,
online and printed surveys



Working closely with Healthwatch in Newcastle and Gateshead.
Healthwatch have a regular slot at the involvement forum and have played
an integral role in Deciding Together, Delivering Together, while our
engagement team regularly takes part in Healthwatch events to hear
patients’ views.

Over the past year, our engagement work has included these major themes:
Review of services for carers in Gateshead
Over 90 people shared their experiences through a review of services for unpaid
carers, carried out in partnership with Gateshead Council. The review, which aimed
to find out how the CCG and Council can provide better services to support carers,
looked at four themes:


Keeping carers informed



Helping carers look after their health and wellbeing



Offering carers a break



Helping others to understand informal carers’ needs

Following a consultation from June to August 2017, new services for carers will be in
place from July 2018. The full report, ‘Understanding the needs of unpaid carers in
Gateshead’, is available on the CCG website.
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Right care, time and place
A comprehensive programme of engagement is ensuring that patients and
stakeholders have a say in the review of urgent care services outlined described in
more detail in ‘performance overview’ above. This work has so far included daytime
and evening events, surveys, clinical engagement, focus groups through voluntary
and community organisations with communities with protected characteristics, and
online engagement.
Older people – Newcastle and Gateshead
The Enhanced Health in Care Homes programme (described in more detail in
‘performance overview’ above) has included work with local community and
voluntary sector and local universities. This includes working with care home staff to
produce case studies of good practice from a range of activities that engage not only
care home residents but local communities as well.
New ‘Recipes for Creative Care’ dementia resources are helping people to engage
better with people who have dementia. In addition, Northumbria University has led
on a project engaging with staff who work with older people, to ensure that we learn
from their experiences when considering changes to services or workforce planning.
The Little Orange Book
A review of the Little Orange Book (described in more detail in ‘performance
overview’ above) gathered views from more than 200 parents and carers in
Newcastle and Gateshead, as well as 142 health professionals. This showed strong
support for the book as a way to support parents and carers in dealing with their
children’s illnesses, and recommended that it continues to be distributed across
Newcastle and Gateshead.
Young Commissioners
Over the past 18 months, a core group of fourteen young people have worked with
the CCG and local authorities as part of the Young Commissioners project (outlined
in more detail in the performance overview section above).
Young commissioners work alongside statutory commissioners as equals, with
support and training to help them understand the commissioning cycle, decision
making in complex organisations, emotional health and wellbeing services, the legal
framework around commissioning, and equality and diversity.
This work has included:


Regular meetings to share findings and to allow young commissioners to
discuss and contribute actively
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Active participation in the tendering process for level 2 counselling
provision



Leading on the design of a future online information hub for services



Planning and leading the ‘My Mind, My Life’ event in April 2017 to raise
awareness of young people’s mental health and to signpost young people
to local services.



Taking part in the review of the national service specification for Children
and Adolescent Mental Health Level 2 and 3 services



Taking part in board meetings when possible

Social prescribing
We continue to support social prescribing across the three levels identified in
National Social Prescribing Strategy.
Over 300 reception and clerical staff have been trained to undertake enhanced roles
within active signposting and clinical correspondence management. This enables
them to not just offer appointments but also find out whether wider services can help
to support the patient or their family. This is considered ‘level one’ of social
prescribing and is available across the CCG area.
The CCG supports ‘level two’ activity in a range of ways, depending on local needs.
This offers a more enhanced ‘primary care navigation’ service through referral from a
member of the practice team such as a GP or nurse. This holistic approach supports
individuals to access advice around a range of issues, such as financial worries,
housing and social isolation.
In addition, we work through partner organisations to offer more intensive ‘level
three’ support.
This range of social prescribing is a key component in our House of Care approach
to patient centred care for patients with long term conditions.
Deciding Together, Delivering Together
Over the past year, we have worked closely with patients and carers to ensure they
have a strong voice in the implementation of changes to the way current inpatient
mental health services are provided, which were approved after the detailed
Deciding Together consultation process.
This began with a stakeholder workshop to consider how to implement the changes,
which led to the CCG widening the scope of the redesign to include older people’s
mental health services in Gateshead, third sector services, social care, the interface
with GP services and also employment and housing.
Since then we have supported patient involvement through three workstreams,
including two stakeholder view sessions and four week-long service design
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workshops – plus ‘fringe events’ through Healthwatch for people who were unable to
attend the event in full.
Talking Helps patient surveys
Talking Helps Newcastle is the NHS talking therapy service for Newcastle residents,
delivered by a partnership of Insight Healthcare, Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust, and Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust.
Throughout the year we have gathered patient views on the service, to ensure that
quality remains high and that any issues with access, treatment and support can be
addressed.
Care and support planning
We have undertaken a range of engagement activities to inform the CCG’s work to
implement care and support planning, including a survey of patients using this
approach, which is based on the ‘Year of Care’ model.
A number of patients were also interviewed to gain a more detailed insight into the
value of care and support planning. This work demonstrated that care and support
planning promotes holistic and individualised care, enables better self-management,
offers reassurance and preparation prompts and motivation through preparation and
action planning.
In addition, a Gateshead Patient Group has been created to support this work. The
group has also contributed to other work including the regional repeat prescribing
and medicines waste review and the Great North Care Record.

Reducing health inequality
Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS
Constitution, the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also by the
duties of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health
inequalities, promote patient involvement and involve and consult with the public.
We have demonstrated our commitment to Equality, Diversity and Human Rights
(EDHR) in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing
people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our
work as evidenced below.
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
We understand that we are required under the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
which is set out in s149 of the Equality Act 2010, to have due regard to:


Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other
conduct prohibited by the (Equality) Act
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Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not



Foster good relations between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

We are also required as part of the Specific Duties Regulations 2011 to publish:


Equality objectives, at least every four years



Information to demonstrate our compliance with the public sector equality
duty.

Governance
Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities is governed and reports into the Quality,
Safety and Risk Committee. The committee ensures we are compliant with
legislative, mandatory and regulatory requirements regarding equality and diversity,
provides a forum for sharing issues and opportunities, monitors progress against the
equality strategy and supports us in the achievement of key equality and diversity
objectives.
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the Committee outlining
relevant updates in relation to Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities.
Equality Strategy
Our Equality Strategy was refreshed in 2016 and aims to ensure that the CCG
promotes equality of opportunity to all our patients, their families and carers, and our
staff, and to proactively address discrimination of any kind.
We are fully committed to meeting the diverse needs of our local population and
workforce, ensuring that none are placed at a disadvantage.
The Equality Delivery System 2 - Our Equality Objectives
We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have
been using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core
business functions to support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
and to improve our performance for the community, patients, carers and staff with
protected characteristics that are outlined within the Equality Act 2010. Working
through the EDS2 framework has provided an opportunity to raise equality in service
commissioning and gain insight into the local population’s diverse health needs.
The Governing Body approved plans detailing actions we will take to ensure that
individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably.
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We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to develop and prepare
our equality objectives, our action plan and objectives are outlined below:


Objective 1 – Continuously improve engagement, and ensure that
services are commissioned and designed to meet the needs of patients.



Objective 2 – Ensure processes are in place to provide information in a
variety of communication methods to meet the needs of patients, in
particular the ageing population and those with a disability.



Objective 3 – Monitor and review staff satisfaction to ensure they are
engaged, supported and represent the population they serve.



Objective 4 – Ensure that the CCG Governing Body actively leads and
promotes Equality and Diversity throughout the organisation.

Our Staff - Encouraging Diversity
We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise
the benefits such diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our
organisation.
We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a disability who are
identified as meeting the essential criteria for any advertised roles; and reasonable
adjustments under the Equality Act 2010 are considered and implemented during the
recruitment process and during employment.
This year, working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level 2 Disability
Employer’ status for 2017/2018 by demonstrating our commitment to employing the
right people for our business and continually developing our people.
Workforce Race Equality Standard
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the NHS Equality and
Diversity Council’s agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic
minority (BME) backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive
fair treatment in the workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce
Race Equality Standard (WRES).
We have collated staff data as outlined within the updated WRES reporting template
for 2017. We have due regard to the standard by seeking assurance of compliance
from trusts and aim to improve workplace experiences and representation at all
levels for black and minority ethnic staff.
Equality Impact Assessments
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been implemented into core
business processes to provide a comprehensive insight into our local population,
patients and staff’s diverse health needs.
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The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010
(Race, Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and
Civil Partnership and Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and
Carers, as well as including prompts for engagement with protected groups the tool
also aids compliance with the Accessible Information Standard.
Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect of our policies,
procedures and functions on the population we serve. For any negative impacts
identified we will take immediate steps to deal with such issues as part of the action
plan set out in the tool. This will ensure equity of service delivery is available for all
as well as the opportunity to continuously monitor progress against challenges
identified to monitor and reduce inequality for our local population.
The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Governing
Body is required for monitoring and completion.
Accessible Information Standard
The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that disabled people have
access to information that they can understand, and access to any communication
support they might need.
The standard tells organisations how to make information accessible to patients,
service users and their carers and parents. This includes making sure that people
get information in different formats if they need it, such as large print, braille, easy
read, and via email. Organisations were required to follow the standard in full since
31 July 2016.
Further information can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo.
Health Inequalities
We have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing
health services for our local population.
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the use of joint
strategic needs assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data
including local health profiles as well as qualitative data through our local
engagement initiatives which aim to engage hard to reach groups.
Our organisation comprises of 63 GP practices across Newcastle and Gateshead.
The health of people in Newcastle upon Tyne and Gateshead is generally worse
than the England average.
We face numerous challenges across Newcastle and Gateshead, including:


An ageing population with increasing health needs



Health inequalities across the area
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Levels of smoking, alcohol consumption and obesity higher than the
national average



Over-reliance on hospital based services



Increasing high cost drugs and cost of new medical technologies



Limited growth in financial allocations in future years

About 27% (12,600) of children in Newcastle and 21% (7,200) of children in
Gateshead live in low income families.
In relation to inequalities, life expectancy is 13.1 years lower for men and 10.9 years
lower for women in comparison to the most deprived and least deprived areas of
Newcastle upon Tyne and 9.9 years lower for men and 8.7 years lower for women in
comparison to the most and least deprived areas of Gateshead.
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector
organisations and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local
community we serve to improve health and healthcare for the local population.
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual
feedback/input, consultations, working with other organisations and community
groups, attendance at community events and engagement activity including patient
surveys, focus groups and
Healthwatch
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services
that are purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We
appreciate that to deliver this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all
our stakeholders. We aim to ensure that comments and back from our local
communities are captured and, where possible, giving local people the opportunity to
influence local health services and enable people to have their say using a variety of
communication methods enabling them to influence the way NHS health services are
commissioned.
Through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with
other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy
of the Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also
nationally we were awarded E&D Partner status for 2016/17 and have continued to
work closely with partners as part of the alumni programme for 2017/18.
Further information can be found at:


Health Profiles: www.healthprofiles.info



Public Health England – Local Health: www.localhealth.org.uk



Newcastle JSNA: www.newcastle.gov.uk/your-council-anddemocracy/statistics-and-census-information/equality-statistics-researchand-information
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Gateshead JSNA: www.gateshead.gov.uk/Health-and-SocialCare/JSNA/home.aspx

Health and wellbeing strategy
We work in close partnership with both Newcastle City Council and Gateshead
Council and actively support the development and delivery of the joint health and
wellbeing strategies. The Local Authority Directors of Public Health are in attendance
at the CCG Governing Body and provide a progress report at each meeting. Through
our work with them we have confirmed the CCG's contribution to the delivery of the
joint health and wellbeing strategies.
CCG Governing Body members are also members of the Health and Wellbeing
Board in Gateshead and the Wellbeing for Life Board in Newcastle. In addition to
regular attendance at the Boards throughout 2017/18 and participation in the full
range of business, the CCG has brought specific issues for the consideration of the
Boards including:


New models of health and care systems



CCG Operational and Commissioning Plans



Sustainability and Transformation Partnership progress (STP)



Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)



Deciding Together, Delivering Together



Better Care Fund 2017/18



Integrated Urgent Care

Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
22nd May 2018
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Accountability report
Corporate Governance Report
Members Report
Member Practices
The CCG is made up of 63 GP practices in Newcastle and Gateshead. We started
the year with 64, but Ryton Surgery and Hollyhurst, merged in 2017 to form I-J
Healthcare. The 63 practices are:
Member practices

Practice name
108 Rawling Road

Practice name
Longrigg Medical Centre

Avenue Medical Practice

Metro Interchange Surgery

Beacon View Medical Centre

Millennium Family Practice

Benfield Park Medical Group

Newburn Surgery

Bensham Family Practice

Newcastle Medical Centre

Betts Avenue Medical Group

Oldwell Surgery
Oxford Terrace & Rawling Road Medical
Group
Parkway Medical Centre

Bewick Road Surgery
Biddlestone Health Group
Birtley Medical Group
Blaydon GP Practice & Minor Injuries /
illness unit
Bridges Medical Centre

Pelaw Medical Centre

Broadway Medical Group

Prospect House Medical Group

Brunton Park Surgery

Regent Medical Centre

Central Gateshead Medical Group

Roseworth Surgery

Chainbridge Medical Partnership

Saville Medical Group

Crawcrook Surgery

Second Street Surgery

Crowhall Medical Centre

St Anthony's Health Centre

Cruddas Park Surgery

St. Albans Medical Group

Denton Park Medical Group

Sunniside Surgery

Denton Turret Medical Centre

Teams Medical Practice

Dilston Medical Centre

The Grove Medical Group
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Ponteland Road Health Centre
Primary Health Care Centre (Chopwell)

Practice name
Fell Cottage Surgery

Practice name
The Medical Centre (Rowlands Gill)

Fell Tower Medical Centre

The Park Medical Group

Fenham Hall Surgery

The Surgery, Osborne Road

Glenpark Medical Centre

Thornfield Medical Group

Gosforth Memorial Medical Centre

Throckley Primary Care Centre

Grainger Medical Group

Walker Medical Group

Grange Road

West Road Medical Group

Heaton Road Surgery

Westerhope Medical Group

Holly Medical Group

Whickham Health Centre

Holmside Medical Group

Wrekenton Medical Group

I J Healthcare

The Chair of the CCG
The Chair of the CCG from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 was Dr Guy Pilkington, a
GP in Newcastle. Dr Mark Dornan, a GP in Gateshead was the Assistant Clinical
Chair. As planned, these roles were reversed from 1 April 2018; Dr Dornan is now
the Chair of the CCG and Dr Pilkington is the Assistant Clinical Chair.
Chief Officer
Mark Adams is the Chief Officer and Accountable Officer of the CCG and has been
in post from the CCG’s inception on 1 April 2015.
Commissioning Forum
The CCG Commissioning Forum comprises a nominated GP from each of the 63 GP
practices which form the CCG membership. Its terms of reference require it to meet
quarterly and not less than three times per calendar year. The commissioning forum
met on four occasions during 2017/18, including the Annual Members Meeting in
September 2017.
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The CCG Governing Body
The membership of the CCG Governing Body is set out in the CCG constitution. The
composition of the Governing Body of the CCG during 2017/18 was as follows:
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG Governing Body

Title

Name

Clinical Chair

Dr Guy Pilkington

Assistant Clinical Chair

Dr Mark Dornan

Chief Officer (Accountable officer)

Mark Adams

Lay member: Deputy Chair of the
Governing Body
Lay member: To lead on audit and
conflict of interest matters
Lay members:

Member practice representatives
Secondary care specialist doctor

Jeff Hurst
Michael Burke
Paul Gertig
Mandy Coppin
Margaret Stewart
Oliver Wood
Dr Peter Ward
Sheinaz Stansfield
Bill Cunliffe

Chief Finance and Operating Officer Joe Corrigan
Executive Director of Nursing,
Patient Safety and Quality

Chris Piercy

Medical Director

Dr Neil Morris

Directors

In attendance (non-voting)

Jackie Cairns, Director of Strategy and
Integration
Jane Mulholland, Director of Operations and
Delivery
Julia Young, Director of Quality Development
Prof. Eugene Milne, Director of Public Health,
Newcastle
Alice Wiseman, Director of Public Health,
Gateshead
Pauline Fox, Head of Corporate Affairs (to
June 2017)
Neil Hawkins, Head of Corporate Affairs (from
August 2017)

The function of the Governing Body can be found in the governance statement.
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Audit Committee
The membership of the Audit Committee comprises the lay member who leads on
audit and governance, at least one other lay member and one other member with the
relevant skills and experience as nominated by the Governing Body. Audit
Committee membership 2017/18 was:


Michael Burke, Lay Member for Audit, remuneration and conflict of
interest matters (Chair)



Jeff Hurst, Lay Member and Deputy Chair of the Governing Body



Oliver Wood, Lay Member



Mr Bill Cunliffe, secondary care clinician (nominated by the Governing
Body)

Joe Corrigan, Chief Finance and Operating Officer is the lead officer for the
committee and is invited to all meetings. Mark Adams, Chief Officer, attends the
committee at least annually.
The function of the Audit Committee can be found in the governance statement.

CCG staff
Details of CCG staff are given in the remuneration and staff report section of this
annual report.
North of England Commissioning Support (NECS)
Commissioning Support Units were introduced in the NHS as part of the
commissioning reforms to provide commissioning support at scale to a number of
CCGs under a service level agreement. We have a service level agreement (SLA) in
place with the North of England Commissioning Support service (NECS).
NECS provide us with a range of commissioning support services, including, for
example, communications, human resources management, business intelligence,
information governance, financial and payment processes and management
accounting.
Register of Interests
The CCG has arrangements in place for the effective management of conflicts of
interest. Details of company directorships and other significant interests held by
members of the Governing Body, Executive committee and other CCG committees
are recoded in the Register of Interests.
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The Register of Interests is available on the CCG website at:
http://www.newcastlegatesheadccg.nhs.uk/publications/

Personal data related incidents
The CCG reported no data incidents to the Information Commissioners Officer during
2017/18.
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is
approved confirms:


So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the
purposes of their audit report



The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order
to make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of it

Modern Slavery Act
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to
eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements
for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the
Modern Slavery Act 2015.
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Newcastle
Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer appointment letter. They include
responsibilities for:


The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the
Accountable Officer is answerable



For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction)



For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities)



The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money



Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous
improvement in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))



Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections
223H to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply
with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of
Health and Social Care and in particular to:


Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis



Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis



State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care
have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in
the financial statements



Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended),
Managing Public Money and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable
Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:


As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have
taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information



That the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual
report and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is
fair, balanced and understandable

Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
22nd May 2018
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Governance Statement
Introduction and context
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate
established by NHS England on 1 April 2015 under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health
services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable
requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2018, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act
2006, nor has it been during 2017/18.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for
which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the Clinical Commissioning Group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical
commissioning group as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted
principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
The CCG has a constitution based on the Department of Health and Social Care’s
Model Template and it has been approved to take into account subsequent
guidance.

Page 46 of 93

Commissioning Forum
The Clinical Commissioning Group has a Commissioning Forum, comprising the
elected members of each general practice within the group. This provides clinicallyled direction on areas of commissioning for health care services and is constituted of
appointed practice representatives and other primary care representatives who will
use the groups as vehicles for determining needs in relation to both patient services
and practice development.
The Commissioning Forum was operational throughout the 2017/18 financial year
and has continued to operate after that period. In accordance with the terms of
reference, meetings of Commissioning Forum are normally held quarterly, and not
less than three times per financial year. The Commissioning Forum met on four
occasions during 2017/18, including the Annual Members Meeting in September
2017, in order to discharge the responsibilities as determined by the scheme of
reservation and delegation and terms of reference.
The Chair of the Commissioning Forum is selected by the members from the
membership.
The Commissioning Forum has determined to delegate the majority of the decisionmaking responsibility to the Governing Body and its sub-committees.
The 2017/18 attendance records for the Commissioning Forum are given in the
following table:
Commissioning Forum attendance record

Practice name

Total

Practice name

Total

108 Rawling Road

0/4

Longrigg Medical Centre

2/4

Avenue Medical Practice

4/4

Metro Interchange Surgery

1/4

Beacon View Medical Centre

4/4

Millennium Family Practice

3/4

Benfield Park Medical Group

4/4

Newburn Surgery

4/4

Bensham Family Practice

2/4

Newcastle Medical Centre

1/4

Betts Avenue Medical Group

3/4

2/4

Bewick Road Surgery

3/4

Biddlestone Health Group

2/4

Oldwell Surgery
Oxford Terrace & Rawling Road
Medical Group
Parkway Medical Centre

Birtley Medical Group
Blaydon GP Practice & Minor
Injuries / illness unit

1/4

Pelaw Medical Centre

1/4

1/4

Ponteland Road Health Centre

4/4

Bridges Medical Centre

3/4

Broadway Medical Group

3/4

Primary Health Care Centre
(Chopwell)
Prospect House Medical Group

Brunton Park Surgery

4/4

Regent Medical Centre
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2/4
1/4

4/4
3/4
4/4

Practice name
Central Gateshead Medical
Group
Chainbridge Medical Partnership

Total

Practice name

Total

2/4

Roseworth Surgery

3/4

3/4

Saville Medical Group

4/4

Crawcrook Surgery

3/4

Second Street Surgery

3/4

Crowhall Medical Centre

3/4

St Anthony's Health Centre

3/4

Cruddas Park Surgery

3/4

St. Albans Medical Group

1/4

Denton Park Medical Group

4/4

Sunniside Surgery

4/4

Denton Turret Medical Centre

4/4

Teams Medical Practice

4/4

Dilston Medical Centre

2/4

3/4

Fell Cottage Surgery

0/4

Fell Tower Medical Centre

3/4

The Grove Medical Group
The Medical Centre (Rowlands
Gill)
The Park Medical Group

Fenham Hall Surgery

4/4

The Surgery, Osborne Road

2/4

Glenpark Medical Centre
Gosforth Memorial Medical
Centre
Grainger Medical Group

3/4

Thornfield Medical Group

2/4

3/4

Throckley Primary Care Centre

3/4

2/4

Walker Medical Group

4/4

Grange Road

1/4

West Road Medical Group

4/4

Heaton Road Surgery

4/4

Westerhope Medical Group

4/4

Holly Medical Group

3/4

Whickham Health Centre

3/4

Holmside Medical Group

2/4

Wrekenton Medical Group

3/4

I J Healthcare

0/4

2/4
4/4

Governing Body
The Governing Body is constituted in accordance with the Health and Social Care
Act 2012 and the National Health Service (Clinical Commissioning Groups)
Regulations 2012. The terms of reference for the Governing Body are set out in the
CCG constitution and include the membership.
During 2017/18 the Governing Body met on six occasions in public and six
occasions in private. Agendas are structured to deal with public and patient
involvement, quality, finance, performance, strategic, governance and public health
issues. The arrangements meet the requirements of best practice guidance in
respect of risk management and ensure that a strong accountability framework has
been established. They reflect the public service values of accountability, probity and
openness and specify as Accountable Officer my responsibility for ensuring that
these values are met within the Clinical Commissioning Group.
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Members of the Governing Body have undertaken a process of self-assessment and
annual appraisal. The outcome was presented to members and discussed in private
session in July 2017.
A self-assessment of effectiveness is to be undertaken in spring 2018, the results of
which will inform the 2018/19 Governing Body development programme.

Attendance records for CCG Governing Body and committees
The 2017/18 attendance records for the Governing Body and committees are given
in the following tables.
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2

10/12

5/6

10/12

Assistant Clinical Chair

Mark Adams

Chief Officer 3

3/6

1/1

Jeff Hurst

Deputy Lay Chair 4

5/6

5/6

Michael Burke

Lay member for Audit 5

6/6

6/6

Paul Gertig

Lay member

5/6

Mandy Coppin
(formerly Taylor)

Lay member 6

5/6

Margaret Stewart

Lay member 7

6/6

Oliver Wood

Lay member

4/6

Dr Peter Ward
Mr Bill Cunliffe
Joe Corrigan
Chris Piercy

Member Practice
Representative
Member Practice
Representative
Secondary Care
Specialist Doctor
Chief Finance and
Operating Officer
Executive Director of
Nursing, Patient Safety
and Quality

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director

Dr Steve Kirk

Clinical Director

Dr Steve
Summers

Clinical Director

Jackie Cairns
Jane Mulholland
Julia Young

Director of Strategy and
Integration
Director of Operations
and Delivery
Director of Quality
Development

11/12
12/12

1/1
1/1

3/6

1/1
8/12

5/6

1/1
1/1

4/6

1/1

4/6
6/6
3/6

5/6

3/6

7/12

6/6

10/12
11/12

5/6

4/6

5/6

5/6

10/12
9/12

7/12

11/12

12/12
8/12

4/6
3/6
4/6

Notes:
1 Chair of the Governing Body throughout 2017/18
2 Chair of the Executive Committee throughout 2017/18
3 The Chief Officer is required to attend the Audit Committee once per year
4 Chair of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee
5 Chair of the Audit Committee
6 Chair of the Remuneration Committee
7 Chair of the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee
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Executive
Committee

6/6

Dr Mark Dornan

Sheinaz Stansfield

Remuneration
Committee

Clinical Chair 1

Primary Care
Commissioning
Committee

Dr Guy Pilkington

Quality, Safety &
Risk Committee

Role / title

Audit Committee

Name

Governing Body

Governing Body attendance record

8/12
1/6

6/12

11/12
10/12

We have continued to operate with a committee structure which reflects guidance
and best practice, including an Audit Committee incorporating the business of the
Finance and Performance Committee, a Remuneration Committee, a Quality, Safety
and Risk Committee, a Primary Care Commissioning Committee and an Executive
Committee.
Terms of reference have been agreed for these committees which support the
organisation in the delivery of effective governance. Lay membership of committees
is set out in the terms of reference.
The organisational structure including key committees is set out below.

NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG committee structure

Description of the established Governing Body committees
The principal role of each of the Governing Body committees is set out below. The
Governing Body Committees have authority under the Scheme of Delegation to
establish sub-committees or sub-groups to enable them to fulfil their role.
Each of the Governing Body committees has agreed terms of reference and each
committee is authorised by the Governing Body to pursue any activity within their
terms of reference and within the scheme of reservation and delegation.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was operational throughout the 2017/18 financial year and has
continued to operate after that period. In accordance with the terms of reference,
meetings of the Audit Committee are normally held bi-monthly, and not less than five
times per financial year. The Audit Committee met on six occasions during 2017/18.
In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS
Codes of Conduct and Accountability, the committee provides the organisation with
an independent and objective review of their financial systems, financial information
and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. The Audit
Committee also encompasses the functions of the Finance and Performance
Committee.
The committee’s cycle of business includes review of the Clinical Commissioning
Group Assurance Framework and corporate risk register. The committee is a nonexecutive committee of the Governing Body and has no executive powers, other
than those specifically delegated in its terms of reference.
The Audit Committee’s terms of reference are described in a document separate to
the CCG’s constitution and are available on the CCG’s website.
The Audit Committee, as part of its terms of reference, provides an annual report of
its work to the Governing Body. The most recent report available covers 2017/18.
The principal purpose of the report is to give the Governing Body an assurance as to
the work carried out to support the Accountable Officer’s review of the internal
control arrangements.
The committee’s cycle of business enables the Audit Committee to carry out its key
objectives necessary to support its assurances regarding the effectiveness of the
organisation’s internal controls.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee met on one occasion during 2017/18. In accordance
with the terms of reference, meetings of the Remuneration Committee will be held as
and when required, but not less than once per financial year.
The Remuneration Committee is established to advise/recommend to the Governing
Body the appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Officer and
other staff paid through the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework.
The committee also advises/recommends to the Governing Body remuneration for
the role of chair, remuneration and terms of service of any independent lay members
and reviews any business cases for early retirement and redundancy. The
committee’s terms of reference are described in a document separate to the CCG’s
constitution and are available on the CCG’s website.
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Quality, Safety and Risk Committee
The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee was operational throughout the 2017/18
financial year and has continued to operate after that period. In accordance with the
terms of reference, meetings of the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee will be held
not less than six times per financial year. The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee
met on six occasions during 2017/18.
The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee assists the Governing Body in its duty to
secure continuous improvement in the quality of services, improve the quality of
primary medical services and promote research and use of research. It provides
assurance to the governing body about the quality, safety and risks of the services
being commissioned, and the overall risks to the organisation’s strategic and
operational plans.
The committee’s terms of reference are described in a document separate to the
CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website.
Significantly, during the year through its cycle of business, the Quality, Safety and
Risk Committee and its associated sub-committee has considered the following
issues:


Quality monitoring reports on provider commissioned services, including
the reporting of serious untoward incidents and never events



Healthcare acquired infections



Risk Management Strategy and Governance Framework



Information governance

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee was operational throughout the 2017/18 financial year and
has continued to operate after that period. In accordance with the terms of reference,
meetings of the Executive Committee will normally be at least monthly, and not less
than eight times per financial year. The Executive Committee met on 12 occasions
during 2017/18.
The Executive Committee is a management committee which supports the CCG, its
Governing Body and the Accountable Officer in the discharge of their functions. It
assists the Governing Body in its duties to promote a comprehensive health service,
reduce inequalities and promote innovation. Its remit includes development and
implementation of strategy, monitoring and delivery of delegated duties, operational,
financial, contractual and clinical performance as well as ensuring the coordination
and monitoring of risks and internal controls.
It has authority to make decisions as set out within its terms of reference and the
CCG’s scheme of delegation.
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The principal role of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC) is to
commission primary medical services for the people of Newcastle and Gateshead.
The remit and responsibilities of the PCCC shall be to carry out the functions relating
to the commissioning of primary medical services under section 83 of the NHS Act.
The functions of the Committee are undertaken in the context of a desire to promote
increased quality, efficiency, productivity and value for money and to remove
administrative barriers.
NHS England has delegated to the CCG authority to exercise primary care
commissioning functions that include but are not limited to the following activities:


Decisions in relation to General Medical Services (GMS), Personal
Medical Services (PMS) and Alternative Providers of Medical Services
(APMS) contracts



To manage the budget for commissioning of primary medical care
services



Decisions in relation to newly designed enhanced services (Local
Enhanced Services and Directed Enhanced Services)



Decisions in relation to local incentive schemes, including the design and
implementation of such schemes



To plan primary medical care services, including Primary Care needs
assessments



To undertake reviews of primary medical care services



Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area



Approving practice mergers and de-mergers



Decisions on practice closures



Planning new primary care estate



Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g. returner/retainer
schemes)



Responsibility for GP practice contract management and performance



Discussions in relation to the management of poorly performing GP
practices (excluding any decision in relation to the performers list).

In accordance with the terms of reference, meetings of the Primary Care
Commissioning Committee will be held not less than four times per financial year.
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee met on 12 occasions during 2017/18.
The committee’s terms of reference are described in a document separate to the
CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website.
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Northern CCG Joint Committee
The Northern CCG Joint Committee was established with effect from October 2017
and is a committee of the Governing Body. The Joint Committee will make decisions
on subjects recommended to it by the Northern CCG Forum.
Membership of both the Forum and the Joint Committee is made up of
representatives from the twelve CCGs from across Cumbria and the North East, with
the Clinical Chair and Chief Officer attending on behalf of Newcastle Gateshead
CCG.
Business of the Joint Committee will be confined to issues that pertain to all CCG
areas in Cumbria and the North East – initially the commissioning of specialist acute
services and ‘111’ services.
Meetings are held in public with members of the public invited to attend to observe
the Joint Committee at work.

UK Corporate Governance Code
As an NHS body we are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance
Code. However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by
drawing on best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate
Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the clinical commissioning group
and best practice.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, and up to the date of signing this
statement, we had regard to the provisions set out in the code, and applied the
principles of the code.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
The arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group and explained
within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with on-going expert
external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal
advice also informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing
Body decision and the scheme of delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can
confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director.
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Directorate structures are periodically reviewed alongside the service agreement
with the Commissioning Support Unit to ensure as far as possible the necessary
capability and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s
statutory duties.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
A Risk Management Policy is in place which takes into account current guidance on
risk management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO
31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient
Safety Agency in its approach to assessing risk.
The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s approach to the assessment and
management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of our overall objective to
commission high quality and safe services. It provides guidance for the systematic
and effective management of risk. Key elements of the Risk Management Policy
include:


A clear statement of Governing Body and individual accountability for
delivery of the policy



Clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process



A clearly defined process for delivering the policy including an
implementation plan to ensure that the policy and risk management
awareness is communicated to all staff



Details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk



An agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from
adverse events supported by a ‘fair blame’ culture and approach



Confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk
register

Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms
including the incident reporting system which identifies the risks that have already (or
nearly) occurred from incidents or near misses; through our strategic planning
system which ensures that all organisational objectives are rated for risks to
achievement of delivery; and in our performance management system which rates all
objectives for risk to delivery. In addition all Governing Body and committee reports
are assessed for equality impact.
Initial risks are rated according to impact and likelihood. Controls and assurances
are then identified to ensure risks are being managed and mitigated. Residual risk
ratings are then agreed and recorded, with a review date. The risk management
policy sets out the arrangements for the escalation of risk.
The Governing Body assurance framework is reviewed by the Audit Committee and
presented to the Governing Body for approval at regular intervals throughout the
year. It remains under active review as it enables the Governing Body to be sighted
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on the risks to the delivery of the organisation’s principal objectives and to ensure
that effective controls and assurance are in place.

Capacity to handle risk
As Accountable Officer I have overall responsibility for:


Ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management strategy,
including effective risk management systems and internal controls



The development of the corporate governance and assurance framework



Meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance
towards our strategic objectives

Each of the directors of the CCG is responsible for:


Co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with
the risk management strategy



Ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken
to implement improvements



Ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk
management responsibilities in relation to the risk management strategy



Incorporating risk management as a management technique within the
performance management arrangements for the organisation

All members of staff are aware of their responsibilities in relation to the risk
management strategy and policy. This ensures that risk is seen as the responsibility
of all members of staff and not just senior managers.

Risk Assessment
The CCG’s approach to risk management ensures that all risks are captured and
monitored in line with the CCG’s Risk Management Policy. Current and potential
risks are captured in the CCG’s risk register and include actions and timescales
identified to minimise such risks. The risk register is a log of risks that threaten the
organisation’s success in achieving its aims and objectives and is populated through
a risk assessment and evaluation process. The register is updated on a bi-monthly
basis by the CCG’s Head of Corporate Affairs with support from North of England
Commissioning Support.

Assurance and reporting
Operational risks are captured in the Risk Register but not in the Assurance
Framework which is comprised of the CCG’s strategic risks.
Risk registers are reviewed on a bi-monthly basis:
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Quality, Safety and Risk Committee receives the Assurance Framework
Executive Committee receives a report on the full risk register
Audit Committee receives the Assurance Framework and an operational
register and is responsible for approving the closure of risks
Governing Body receives the Assurance Framework

Each risk has an initial score, a residual score and a target score, with the residual
score representing the current rating.
Whenever risks to the achievement of CCGs’ objectives have been identified
appropriate controls are put in place to eliminate the risk or mitigate its effect. To do
this, a standard risk assessment matrix is used which is based on current national
guidance, but has been adapted to suit the CCG’s agreed risk appetite.
Using this standardised tool ensures that risk assessments are undertaken in a
consistent manner using agreed definitions and evaluation criteria. This allows for
comparisons to be made between different risk types and for decisions to be made
on the resources needed to mitigate the risk.
Risks are assessed in terms of the likelihood of occurrence/re-occurrence and the
consequences of impact. An initial risk rating is applied to the risk based on current
controls. An action plan is then developed based on any gaps identified in putting
control measures in place. The action plan identifies further mitigating actions to
ensure adequate controls are in place. Risks are reassessed to take account of the
effectiveness of the controls. Reassessment then determines a residual risk rating.
Risk matrix

Consequence

Likelihood

1
(Catastrophic)
2
(Major)
3
(Moderate)
4
(Minor)
5
(Negligible)

1
(rare)

2
(unlikely)

3
(possible)

4
(likely)

5
(almost
certain)

5

10

15

20

25

4

8

12

16

20

3

6

9

12

15

2

4

6

8

10

1

2

3

4

5

For grading risk, the scores obtained from the risk matrix are assigned grades as
follows:
Green

1-9

Low

Amber

10-12

Medium

Red

15-25

High
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Risks were identified in relation to all of the corporate objectives set for 2017/18, with
significant strategic risks (high) that have been on the assurance framework
throughout the year listed below:


The requirement to meet statutory financial duties and the control total set
by NHS England as increasing pressures on the CCG finances continue,
particularly from demographic pressures. In 2017/18 QIPP we had plans
in place to deliver the £34m required to achieve the CCG control total, as
agreed with NHS England. These plans have been under constant review
throughout 2017/18 with the aim of achieving the very challenging target.
This risk has remained on the risk register throughout 2017/18 and will
remain on the register at the start of 2018/19.



Capacity, workload and resilience in primary care: the risk that increasing
pressures on GP practices may result in the CCG being unable to
commission sufficient primary care to transform services to provide the
best care possible to the population of Newcastle and Gateshead.
Investment in line with the GP Five Year Forward View remains in place to
mitigate this risk and position the CCG to commission access to primary
care that meets health needs. This risk has remained on the risk register
throughout 2017/18 and will remain on the register at the start of 2018/19.

Mitigating action plans have been put in place to address these risks and progress
has been monitored closely by the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee, Audit
Committee and the Governing Body.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives.
It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those
risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control allows risk to
be managed to a reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
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The system of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify
and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of the
clinical commissioning group, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively
and economically.
A system of internal control has been in place continuously in the clinical
commissioning group for the year ended 31 March 2018, which continues to be
developed as the organisation matures.
The Internal Audit service is an important aspect of assurance on the system of
internal control through a risk based programme of work. This provides assurance on
key systems of control within the CCG through formal reporting to Audit Committee.
The Head of Internal Audit also has direct access to the Audit Committee Chair as
required.
Statutory and mandatory training has been undertaken by all members of staff during
2017/18, including compliance with health and safety requirements and information
governance requirements. The CCG is committed to a process of continuing
professional development, directed through the formal appraisal system.
The CCG has a range of policies in place which contribute to the system of internal
control. The three policy areas are corporate, human resources and information
governance with a suite of standard operating procedures to support them. Policies
are reviewed and revised on a regular basis determined by their revision date.
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs
(published June 2017) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS
England has published a template audit framework.
The CCG has carried out the annual internal audit of conflicts of interest. The
outcome is an assurance rating of ‘substantial’ with no significant issues identified.
Data Quality
We receive data on quality, performance, finance and contracts which brings
together the key strands of provider management responsibility. This ensures that no
single aspect of this element of business is seen in isolation and provides an explicit
link between finance, quality and performance issues.
Data is also received in relation to human resources, statutory and mandatory
training and freedom of information requests which inform the governing body of
progress and issues in those areas.
The Governing Body considers the data received to be of an acceptable standard.
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Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and
effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.
We have established an information governance management framework and have
developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the
information governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual
information governance training and have implemented a staff information
governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance
roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents. We have developed information risk assessment and management
procedures and continue to develop our systems to fully embed an information risk
culture throughout the organisation against identified risks.
The information governance agenda is heard at the Quality, Safety and Risk
Committee which reports to the Governing Body. The Caldicott Guardian and the
Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) also play an important role in maintaining a
robust approach to information governance.
The information governance toolkit has been provided by NHS Digital (formerly
HSCIC) to support performance monitoring of progress on information governance in
the NHS. The CCG has published the information governance toolkit and has been
assessed as achieving 75% (Satisfactory) for Version 14.1 (2017/18), which included
compliance with the requirement for information governance training.
We comply with our statutory duty to respond to requests for information. During the
year we received 248 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. All were
responded to within the statutory timescales.
Business Critical Models
We have a Business Continuity Management Plan, which was formally approved by
the Governing Body in September 2017. We do not have any business critical
models.
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Third party assurances
The CCG relies on several external support services providers in respect of some of
its business functions, including the North of England Commissioning Support
(NECS), the NHS Shared Business Service (SBS), Electronic Staff Records (ESR)
(IBM), Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (payroll), Capita (primary care
co-commissioning), NHS Digital (GP payments) and the NHS Business Services
Authority (BSA).
These organisations provide service auditor reports as part of the evidence of
assurance on their internal system of controls as required by their customers. These
service auditor reports are considered by the Audit Committee and internal audit also
consider service auditor reports as part of the overall year-end internal audit opinion.

Control Issues
Significant control issues are those issues that might prejudice the achievement of
priorities, undermine the integrity or reputation of the CCG and/or wider NHS, made
it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources, have a material impact on the
accounts or put national security of data integrity at risk.
There are no significant control issues currently facing the CCG.

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of
resources
The CCG has well-developed internal systems and processes in place for managing
resources with regard to economy, efficiency and the effective use of resources.
Internal systems and processes are underpinned by the governance structure that
includes the Audit Committee, with terms of reference as noted above.
All clinical commissioning groups in England are subject to an annual assessment
which examines key objectives and priorities in relation to the CCG improvement and
assessment framework, and the NHS Five Year Forward View.
While the assessors highlighted a great many positive achievements and examples
of outstanding leadership for 2016-17, NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG received an
overall rating of ‘requires improvement’. This rating was largely the result of a smaller
than expected surplus due to rising costs for hospital care and continuing healthcare.
NHS England publishes the CCG assessment outcomes on My NHS
www.nhs.uk/mynhs . The latest available results (2017/18 quarter 2) show the CCG
Quality of Leadership Indicator rated as ‘green.’ The Quality of Leadership year end
rating will be published in July 2018.
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The CCG Governing Body approved a balanced budget for the financial year
2017/18, meeting all of the national financial planning assumptions. The requirement
for delivery of additional cost savings via QIPP programmes increased in 2017/18 as
a result of a range of factors including activity pressures, inflationary pressures
including the cost of the living wage impacting on continuing healthcare package
costs for specific developments to be funded from growth, for example aspects of the
general practice five year forward view. The CCG had an agreed financial
sustainability plan in place from the start of 2017/18 including a £34m QIPP
efficiency saving plan to support the achievement of a planned cumulative surplus of
£10.2m. This included a strong focus on the intelligence available via the ‘Right
Care’ initiative which supports CCGs to identify opportunities to reduce cost and
improve value/quality in the services they commission.
Lead directors had agreed key roles in the implementation of the plans and the
refinement of financial sustainability plans continued to be led by them.
The Integrated Delivery Report (IDR) is presented at the Finance and Performance
section of each meeting of the Audit Committee, and is also presented and
discussed at the Executive Committee and the Governing Body. From a more
operational perspective, the Corporate Management Team meetings include a
Financial Sustainability Group which focuses on the development and delivery of the
CCG’s annual QIPP programme.
Member practices continue to be crucial to delivering our local efficiency savings,
through tackling variation and ensuring ‘Right Care’ principles are in place. Practices
are supported by named CCG staff who continued the programme of regular practice
visits throughout the year to review performance against specific practice action
plans addressing these key issues. The CCG also commissions prescribing support
staff to work in practices to facilitate the efficient and effective use of resources.
We have continued our detailed review of costs incurred against contracts
throughout the year. Contract management meetings were supported by detailed
reporting showing actual activity and cost against planned levels across all points of
delivery and this was supported by more detailed analysis where there was
significant variance to plan. Internal meetings such as the Finance Sustainability
Group were used to link contract discussions with the practice liaison work.
It is important that our financial reporting supports collective and comprehensive
assurance on patient safety, quality and performance which is critical to ensuring
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of CCG resources. Our ‘Integrated
Delivery Report’ is the vehicle for corporate reporting throughout the organisation
and crucially gives visibility and enables triangulation of patient safety, quality
performance and financial matters arising from commissioned services.
Delegation of functions
The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the
provision of back office services and functions and as such has established an
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internal control system to gain assurance from these. These external services
include:


The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support
from NHS Shared Business Services. The use of NHS Shared Business
Services is mandated by NHS England for all CCGs and is fundamental in
producing NHS England group financial accounts through the use of an
integrated financial ledger system



The provision of financial accounting services from the North of England
Commissioning Support Unit (NECS)



The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust



The provision of the ESR payroll systems support from IBM

Assurance on the effectiveness of the controls is received in part from annual service
audit reports and internal audit assurance reports from the relevant service
providers. The outcomes from these audits are reported to the Audit Committee.
Counter fraud arrangements
Our counter fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s
financial viability and probity. An annual counter fraud plan is agreed by the Audit
Committee, which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation
of fraud.
Through our contract with Audit One, we have counter fraud arrangements in place
that comply with the NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption.


An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is contracted to undertake
counter fraud work proportionate to identified risks



The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against each of the
Standards for Commissioners at least annually. There is executive
support and direction for a proportionate proactive work plan to address
identified risks



A member of the governing body is proactively and demonstrably
responsible for tackling fraud, bribery and corruption



Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Protect quality assurance
recommendations

There were no incidents of fraud reported or revealed during 2017/18, however there
was one allegation of fraud investigated through the CCG’s whistleblowing policy
(Freedom to Speak Up Policy).
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Whistleblowing (Freedom to Speak Up Policy)
A member of the CCG staff raised two concerns under the Freedom to Speak Up
policy. The first related to a potential fraud by a supplier of a contracted out service
and the second related to the application of HR polices internally within the CCG.
An independent investigation was commissioned which has reported back to the
CCG Governing Body. The investigation concluded that whilst there had been
contractual performance issues that no fraud had been committed.
In relation to the HR matter, the investigation concluded that there were areas where
improvements could be made by the CCG management and executive team and an
action plan was approved to disseminate the learning from these lessons and to
make the necessary improvements.
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Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning
group’s system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of
Internal Audit concluded that:
“From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing substantial
assurance that the system of internal control has been effectively designed to meet
the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are being consistently applied.”
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Audit report assurances

Area of Audit

Level of Assurance
Given

NGA 1718/01: Financial and Strategic Planning

Substantial

NGA 1718/07: Performance Management and Reporting

Substantial

NGA 1718/08: Contract Monitoring

Substantial

NGA 1718/09: Cost Improvement and QIPP

Substantial

NGA 1718/13: Conflicts of Interest

Substantial

NGA 1718/14: Key Financial Controls

Substantial

NGA 1718/15: Governance and Assurance Arrangements

Substantial

NGA 1617/13: Delivery against SLAs

Substantial

NGA 1718/03: Stakeholder Engagement

Substantial

NGA 1718/04: Safeguarding Arrangements

Substantial

NGA 1718/02: S117

Good

NGA 1718/06: Continuing Healthcare

Reasonable

NGA 1718/11: Primary Care Commissioning

Substantial

NGA 1718/12: Information Governance: At the date of review in February 2018,
internal audit identified six out of seven requirements reviewed which could be
substantiated at the level claimed. Feedback was provided to the CCG who were
able to achieve the final requirement before the final submission date of 31 March
2018.
Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal
control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available
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to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in
their annual audit letter and other reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its
principles objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit
Committee and the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee, and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
The CCG has worked closely with NHS England throughout the year, including
participating in the quarterly assurance programme of work.
In particular, there are some key processes that the CCG uses throughout the year
to be assured that the system of internal control is effective:
i.
The Governing Body
The Governing Body assurance framework has been regularly reviewed by the
Governing Body. The Governing Body also receives minutes from the Executive
Committee and the Quality, Safety and Risk Committee who have responsibility for
the approval of new and updated policies throughout the year.
ii. The Audit Committee
The annual internal audit plan, as approved by the Audit Committee, enables the
CCG to be reassured that key internal financial controls and other matters relating to
risk are regularly reviewed. The committee has reviewed the internal and external
audit reports and has kept the assurance framework under review throughout the
year.
iii. The Quality, Safety and Risk Committee
This committee provides assurance to the Governing Body that there are adequate
controls in place to ensure the CCG is delivering on its statutory and non-statutory
clinical duties and responsibilities. The Head of Corporate Affairs, as lead manager
for risk and corporate governance, provides bi-monthly reports to the Quality, Safety
and Risk Committee and the Audit Committee.
iv.
Review of the CCG Constitution
The CCG Constitution has undergone review and was amended during 2017/18 to
allow the CCG to enter into delegated arrangements with the Northern CCG Joint
Committee. The revisions to the Constitution were submitted in December 2017
which were subsequently approved by NHS England in March 2018.
A revised CCG Constitution was therefore published in March 2018 and is available
on our website.
v.
Assurances of outsourced services
Primary Care Co-commissioning – CAPITA service auditor report: Whilst the service
auditor report identified exceptions with some control objectives, a review has been
carried out by the CCG on the control exceptions and it has been confirmed that the
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CCG had in place internal controls to mitigate the control exceptions identified.
These in-house controls were audited by Internal Audit as part of the financial
systems audit in 2017/18 gaining significant assurance.
vi.
North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS)
The CCG relies on a range of support from NECS and it is important that the CCG
receives adequate assurances from the commissioning support unit in respect of its
controls environment.
In a management report to the CCG, a review of NECS internal controls identified
some minor areas of control weakness. This was considered by the Audit Committee
and upon review concluded that they did not pose a material risk to the integrity of
reporting.
Data security
We have adopted and implemented the Department of Health and Social Care’s
guidance, ‘Checklist for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information
Governance Serious Untoward Incidents’.
The organisation has a standard operating procedure in place for the reporting of
level three information governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. This
procedure outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures
to be used in the event of a data security breach.
Conclusion
My review confirms therefore that there is a sound system of internal control in place
across NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG and that there are no significant control
issues currently facing the CCG.
In accordance with the statutory duties for clinical commissioning groups, as laid
down in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, I certify that the continued delivery of
those statutory duties was discharged through NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical
Commissioning Group during 2017/18.

Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
22nd May 2018
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Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report
Remuneration Committee
The remuneration committee is established to advise the Governing Body about pay,
other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Officer, Very Senior Managers
(VSM) and Clinical Leads. The committee is comprised entirely of Lay Members.
Details of remuneration committee membership, meeting frequency, items of
business and meeting attendance are given in the Governance Statement of this
report.
Policy on the remuneration of senior managers
The remuneration committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to
make recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for
employees of the CCG that are not covered by national pay and terms and
conditions frameworks and for people who provide services to the CCG. The
remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is
reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review payments made to
any senior managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments
in future years outwith the ‘Very Senior Management Pay Framework’. This is in
accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued
by the Department of Health and Social Care.
Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG
are permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by either
party.
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made
during the year to past senior managers (subjected to audit).
We are committed to attracting, retaining and developing a diverse and skilled
workforce that is representative of our local population. We actively work to remove
any discriminatory practices in our work, eliminate all forms of harassment and
promote equality of opportunity in our recruitment, training, performance
management and development practices. We have policies and processes in place
to support this.
Salaries and allowances
The remuneration figures are given in the tables below.

Page 69 of 93

Notes to salaries and allowances shown in the tables below:
The figures in the tables relate to all those individuals who hold or who have held
office as a senior manager in the CCG during 2017/18. The definition of a senior
manager in the CCG is in accordance with the guidance provided in the Group
Accounting Manual 2017/18. It is ‘those persons in senior positions having authority
or responsibility for directing or controlling major activities within the group body. This
means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the
decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ This definition covers all
members of the CCG Governing Body, the CCG senior managers in regular
attendance at the Governing Body and all members of the CCG Executive
Committee.
On the 1 December 2016 Mark Adams was appointed as the Accountable Officer of
North Tyneside CCG. In recognition of this additional role, the CCG Chief Officer
received a non-consolidated additional pay premium of 5.2% applied to his base
salary. Newcastle Gateshead recharged North Tyneside CCG for 40% of the Chief
Officer’s total salary (including on-costs) from 1st April 2017 to 31 March 2018. No
recharge was made to North Tyneside CCG during 2016/17. The Newcastle
Gateshead CCG Remuneration Committee will keep this under review.
Other than the additional role held by the CCG Chief Officer from December 2016,
no other post-holder is shared under joint management arrangements with North
Tyneside CCG or with any other CCG.
The directors of public health are invited to be in attendance at the Governing Body.
They are not employed by the CCG and receive no remuneration from the CCG for
their CCG Governing Body role.
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
Where one or more senior managers of a CCG are paid more than £150,000 per
annum on a pro-rata basis, equivalent to the Prime Minister’s salary, information is
disclosed in the remuneration report.
Newcastle Gateshead CCG does not have any senior managers that are paid more
than £150,000 per annum on a pro-rata basis.
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Senior manager remuneration 2017/18 (including salary and pension entitlements) (this has been subjected to audit)

Name

Title

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Performance
pay and
bonuses

Long-term
performance
pay and
bonuses

All pension
related
benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£2,500)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

Dr Guy Pilkington

Chair

85-90

-

-

-

45-47.5

130-135

Dr Mark Dornan

Assistant Clinical Chair

85-90

-

-

-

-

85-90

Mark Adams

Chief Officer

85-90

-

-

-

57.5-60

145-150

125-130

39

-

-

-

125-130

100-105

-

-

-

-

100-105

110-115

-

-

-

15-17.5

130-135

Joe Corrigan
Chris Piercy

Chief Finance Officer & Operating
Officer
Executive Director of Nursing,
Patient Safety and Quality

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director

Bill Cunliffe

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

20-25

-

-

-

-

20-25

Michael Burke

Lay member, governance/audit

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Jeff Hurst

Deputy lay chair / lay member

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Paul Gertig

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Mandy Coppin

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Oliver Wood

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Margaret Stewart

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Dr Peter Ward

Practice representative

0-5

-

-

-

37.5-40

40-45

Sheinaz Stansfield

Practice representative

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5
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Senior manager remuneration 2017/18 (including salary and pension entitlements) (this has been subjected to audit)

Name

Title

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Performance
pay and
bonuses

Long-term
performance
pay and
bonuses

All pension
related
benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£2,500)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

Jackie Cairns

Director of Strategy and Integration

95-100

-

-

-

45-47.5

140-145

Jane Mulholland

Director of Operations and Delivery

90-95

-

-

-

45-47.5

135-140

Julia Young

Director of Quality Development

95-100

-

-

-

47.5-50

140-145

Neil Hawkins

Head of Corporate Affairs

30-35

-

-

-

7.5-10

40-45

Pauline Fox

Head of Corporate Affairs

10-15

-

-

-

100-102.5

110-115

Dr Steve Kirk

Clinical Director

70-75

-

-

-

-

70-75

Dr Steve Summers

Clinical Director

50-55

-

-

-

52.5-55

105-110

Expense payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease cars.
All pensions related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions.
Mark Adams is employed by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed
above relates to Newcastle Gateshead CCG’s share of remuneration of 60%. Pension benefits are reported in full by Newcastle Gateshead CCG.
Pauline Fox left the Head of Corporate Affairs role on 13th June 2017.
Neil Hawkins commenced the Head of Corporate Affairs role on 29th August 2017.
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Staff sharing arrangements for senior manager remuneration 2017/18
Mark Adams is employed by Newcastle Gateshead CCG and works for North Tyneside CCG as part of a staff sharing arrangement.
The total remuneration earned for all work across the two CCGs in 2017/18 is shown below:

Name

Mark Adams
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Title

Chief Officer

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

145-150

-

145-150

Senior manager remuneration 2016/17 (including salary and pension entitlements) (this has been subjected to audit)

Name

Title

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Performance
pay and
bonuses

Long-term
performance
pay and
bonuses

All pension
related
benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£2,500)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

Dr Mark Dornan

Chair

85-90

-

-

-

-

80-85

Dr Guy Pilkington

Assistant Clinical Chair

85-90

-

-

-

42.5-45

125-130

Mark Adams

Chief Officer

130-135

-

-

-

25-27.5

160-165

120-125

35

-

-

-

125-130

100-105

-

-

-

-

100-105

110-115

-

-

-

40-42.5

155-160

Joe Corrigan
Chris Piercy

Chief Finance Officer & Operating
Officer
Executive Director of Nursing,
Patient Safety and Quality

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director

Bill Cunliffe

Secondary Care Specialist Doctor

20-25

-

-

-

-

20-25

Michael Burke

Lay member, governance/audit

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Jeff Hurst

Deputy lay chair / lay member

10-15

-

-

-

-

10-15

Paul Gertig

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Mandy Coppin
(formerly Taylor)

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Oliver Wood

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Margaret Stewart

Lay member

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10

Dr Alison Smith

Practice representative

5-10

-

-

-

-

5-10
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Senior manager remuneration 2016/17 (including salary and pension entitlements) (this has been subjected to audit)

Name

Title

Salary

Expense
payments
(taxable) to
nearest £100

Performance
pay and
bonuses

Long-term
performance
pay and
bonuses

All pension
related
benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£2,500)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£ 000

Dr Peter Ward

Practice representative

0-5

-

-

-

120-122.5

120-125

Sheinaz Stansfield

Practice representative

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Jackie Cairns

Director of Strategy and Integration

90-95

-

-

-

50-52.5

140-145

Jane Mulholland

Director of Operations and Delivery

90-95

-

-

-

50-52.5

140-145

Julia Young

Director of Quality Development

90-95

-

-

-

50-52.5

140-145

Jeff Pearson

Head of Corporate Affairs

0-5

-

-

-

-

0-5

Pauline Fox

Head of Corporate Affairs

40-45

-

-

-

2.5-5

45-50

Dr Steve Kirk

Clinical Director

70-75

-

-

-

-

70-75

Dr Steve Summers

Clinical Director

55-60

-

-

-

135-137.5

190-195

Expense payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease cars
All pensions related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions
Jeff Pearson left his role in April 2016
Pauline Fox joined the CCG in June 2016
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Newcastle Gateshead CCG senior officers pension benefits as at 31 March 2018 (this has been subjected to audit)

Name

Title

Real increase in
pension at
pension age

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age

Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at 31
March 2018

Lump sum
at pension
age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2018

(bands of £2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2017

Real
Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2018

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

2.5-5

7.5-10

20-25

65-70

440

68

509

12

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2.5-5

10-12.5

35-40

105-110

630

106

736

21

Dr Guy Pilkington

Chair

Dr Mark Dornan

Assistant Clinical Chair

Mark Adams

Chief Officer

Joe Corrigan

Chief Finance Officer & Operating
Officer

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Chris Piercy

Executive Director of Nursing, Patient
Safety and Quality

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director

0-2.5

2.5-5

15-20

45-50

293

36

329

17

Peter Ward

Practice representative

0-2.5

-

7.5-10

20-25

180

-

148

-

Jackie Cairns

Director of Strategy and Integration

2.5-5

7.5-10

30-35

95-100

587

85

672

14

Jane Mulholland

Director of Operations and Delivery

2.5-5

7.5-10

25-30

85-90

627

-

-

14

Julia Young

Director of Quality Development

2.5-5

2.5-5

25-30

70-75

432

65

496

14

Neil Hawkins

Head of Corporate Affairs

0-2.5

-

0-5

-

-

3

5

5

Pauline Fox

Head of Corporate Affairs

0-2.5

2.5-5

35-40

105-110

611

-

-

2

Steve Summers

Clinical Director

2.5-5

7.5-10

10-15

30-35

185

63

249

8
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Notes to senior officers pension benefits table 2017/18:
Pension related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions
Cash equivalent transfer values at 1 April 2017 have been inflated by 1% in accordance with NHS Business Services Authority instructions.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that individuals have accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the scheme.
Neil Hawkins joined the CCG in August 2017. Real increases in pension are a proportion for the time in post
Pauline Fox left the CCG in June 2017. Real increases in pension are a proportion for the time in post
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Newcastle Gateshead CCG senior officers pension benefits as at 31 March 2017 (this has been subjected to audit)

Real increase in
pension at
pension age

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age

Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at 31
March 2017

Lump
sum at
pension
age
related to
accrued
pension
at 31
March
2017

(bands of £2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2016

Real
Increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2017

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

Name

Title

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Dr Mark Dornan

Chair

0-2.5

-

10-15

25-30

146

6

152

12

Dr Guy Pilkington

Assistant Clinical Chair

0-2.5

5-7.5

15-20

55-60

363

73

436

12

Mark Adams

Chief Officer

0-2.5

5-7.5

30-35

90-95

567

56

623

19

Joe Corrigan

Chief Finance Officer & Operating
Officer

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Chris Piercy

Executive Director of Nursing, Patient
Safety and Quality

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Dr Neil Morris

Medical Director

2.5-5

7.5-10

10-15

40-45

226

64

290

16

Dr Alison Smith

Practice representative

-

-

5-10

20-25

142

-

135

1

Peter Ward

Practice representative

5-7.5

15-17.5

5-10

20-25

29

149

178

0

Jackie Cairns

Director of Strategy and Integration

2.5-5

7.5-10

25-30

85-90

510

70

581

13

Jane Mulholland

Director of Operations and Delivery

2.5-5

7.5-10

25-30

80-85

539

82

621

13

Julia Young

Director of Quality Development

2.5-5

2.5-5

25-30

65-70

375

52

427

13

Pauline Fox

Head of Corporate Affairs

0-2.5

0-2.5

20-25

65-70

-

25

450

6

Steve Summers

Clinical Director

5-7.5

17.5-20

5-10

25-30

48

136

184

8

Notes to senior officers pension benefits table 2016/17:
Pension related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions
Pauline Fox joined the CCG in June 2016. Real increases in pension are a proportion for the time in post
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Cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouses (or
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the
period.
Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office (this has been subjected
to audit)
There was no compensation on early retirement or for loss of office during 2017/18.
Payments to past directors (this has been subjected to audit)
There were no payments to past directors during 2017/18.
Fair Pay Disclosure (this has been subjected to audit)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest paid member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in Newcastle Gateshead CCG
in the financial year 2017/18 was £125 - 130k (2016/17, £130 – 135k). This was 2.3
times (2016/17, 2.7) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £56,665
(2016/17, £48,218). In 2017/18, no employee (2016/17, no employee) received
remuneration in excess of the highest paid director. Remuneration for employees
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other than the highest paid director ranged from £15,671 to £102,010 (2016/17,
£15,251 to £128,247).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and
benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
The pay multiples ratio has reduced in 2017/18 due to a reduction to the highest paid
director due to a staff sharing arrangement and an increase in the median
remuneration. The increase in median remuneration relates to the change in the
workforce composition although there have been marginal changes to the overall
remuneration and number of the workforce in year.
No employee receives a salary below the Living Wage.
Pay multiples (this has been subjected to audit)
2017/18

2016/17

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000)

125-130

130-135

Median Total Remuneration (£)

£56,665

£48,218

2.3

2.7

Ratio
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Staff Report
Number of senior managers
The CCG had 21 senior managers in post as at 31 March 2018. The definition of a
senior manager in the CCG is in accordance with the guidance provided in the
Group Accounting Manual 2017/18. It is ‘those persons in senior positions having
authority or responsibility for directing or controlling major activities within the group
body. This means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather
than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ This definition covers
all members of the CCG Governing Body, the CCG senior managers in regular
attendance at the Governing Body and all members of the CCG Executive
Committee. There are no additional managers with significant financial responsibility.

Staff numbers and costs (this has been subjected to audit)
Staff numbers and costs are analysed by permanent employees and ‘other.’
Permanently employed refers to members of staff with a permanent (UK)
employment contract directly with the CCG. ‘Other’ refers to any member of staff
engaged that does not have a permanent (UK) employment contract with the CCG.
This includes employees on short term contracts of employment and
agency/temporary staff.

Average number of people employed

Permanent
Employees
94

Other
7

Total
101

Average number based upon full time equivalent

Staff costs
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship levy
Staff costs

Permanent
Employees
£'000
4,662
494
557
1
9
5,723

Other
£'000
397
0
0
0
0
397

Total
£'000
5,058
494
557
1
9
6,120

The figures exclude lay members of the Governing Body.

Staff composition
The CCG staff gender profile as at 31 March 2018 is given in the table below. This
reflects our gender representation on the Governing Body, very senior manager
(VSM) staff and all other CCG staff.
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Total
number of
staff /
members

Number of
male staff /
members

% male

Number of
female staff /
members

% female

7

4

57%

3

43%

Other employees
(who are not senior
officers)

137

36

26%

101

74%

Total employees

144

40

28%

104

72%

Governing body
members**

18

12

67%

6

33%

Category of staff

Senior officers*

* The CCG’s seven Very Senior Managers (VSM) are employees and are all
members of the Governing Body therefore all are included in all the figures shown
above.
**This figure includes substantive voting members only, as detailed in the
accountability report section of this annual report. The Governing Body figures are
provided as standalone figures, they do not contribute to the total figure for the whole
CCG as some members may also be senior managers and some may not be on the
payroll and not included in the total.
The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement
and employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and
conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work
rated as of equal value, being entitled to equal pay.

Sickness absence data
The CCG has an agreed policy on the management of staff absence which ensures
all staff are treated fairly and equitably, with the relevant support from line managers
and HR advisors. The CCG also has access to occupational health services. The
sickness absence data for 2017 is given in the table below.
Average of 12
months
(2017 calendar
year)

Average FTE
2017

3.34%
FTE – Full time equivalent
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100

FTE Days
Available

22,556

FTE Days
Lost to
sickness
absence

Average
Sick Days
per FTE

754

7.5

Estimated Cost
of Sickness
Absence
£176,067

Staff policies
The CCG has a suite of staff policies in place. The CCG has taken positive steps
throughout the year to maintain and develop the provision of information to, and
consultation with employees, including:


Providing employees systematically with information on matters of concern
to them as employees



Consulting employees and their representatives on a regular basis so that
the views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions which
are likely to affect their interests



Encouraging the involvement of employees in the CCG’s performance



Taking actions throughout the year to achieve a common awareness on the
part of all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the
performance of the CCG



Membership of the North East Partnership Forum, where staff
representatives and CCG managers from across the region meet together

Encouraging Diversity
We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise
the benefits such diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our
organisation.
We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a disability who are
identified as meeting the essential criteria for any advertised roles; and reasonable
adjustments under the Equality Act 2010 are considered and implemented during the
recruitment process and during employment.
This year, working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level 2 Disability
Employer’ status for 2017/2018 by demonstrating our commitment to employing the
right people for our business and continually developing our people.

Trade Union Facility Time
The Department of Health and Social Care have asked national bodies to share
information on a new reporting requirement for the financial year 2017/18 relating to
Trade Union Facility Time. The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication
Requirements) regulations 2017 require relevant public sector organisations to report
on trade union facility time in their organisations. Facility time is paid time off for
union representatives to carry out trade union activities.
Relevant union officials
What was the total number of your employees who were relevant union officials
during the relevant period?
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Number of employees who were relevant
union officials during the relevant period

Full-time equivalent employee number

1

1

Percentage of time spent on facility time
How many of your employees who were relevant union officials employed during the
relevant period spent a) 0%, b) 1%-50%, c) 51%-99% or d) 100% of their working
hours on facility time?
Percentage of time

Number of employees

0%

0

1-50%

1

51-99%

0

100%

0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Provide the figures requested in the first column of the table below to determine the
percentage of your total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union
officials for facility time during the relevant period.
Provide the total cost of facility time
Provide the total pay bill
Provide the percentage of the total pay bill
spent on facility time, calculated as:
(total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) x 100

£552.70
£5,058,565
(£552.70 / £5,058,565) x 100 = 0.01%

Paid trade union activities
As a percentage of total paid facility time hours, how many hours were spent by
employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant period on paid trade
union activities?
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time hours
calculated as:
(total hours spent on paid trade union
activities by relevant union officials during
the relevant period ÷ total paid facility time
hours) x 100
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Union representatives are allowed reasonable
time away from their core job role to support
union activities, therefore do not receive a fixed
allocation for paid facility time.

Expenditure on consultancy
No consultancy expenditure was incurred in 2017/18 (2016/17, £136k)

Off-payroll engagements
The CCG did not have any off-payroll engagements for more than £245 per day for
longer than 6 months in duration during 2017/18.
Off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months:
Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months

Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2018

0

Of which, the number that have existed:
for less than one year at the time of reporting
for between one and two years at the time of

reporting

0
0

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

New off-payroll engagements longer than six months
New off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between
1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, greater than £245 per day and that last longer than
six months:
New off-payroll engagements

Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018
Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving
Newcastle Gateshead CCG the right to request assurance in relation to
income tax and National Insurance obligations
Number for whom assurance has been requested

0
0
0

Of which:
assurance has been received

0

assurance has not been received

0

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received.

0
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Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements
Off-payroll engagements of Board members and senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018.
Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial
year

0

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

22

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (this has been
subjected to audit)
There were no exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments made
during 2017/18.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary
Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses
and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included where relevant as
notes in the Financial Statements of this report. An audit certificate and report is also
included in this Annual Report at page 88.

Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
22nd May 2018

Page 87 of 93

Independent auditor’s report to the Governing Body of
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical
Commissioning Group (‘the CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2018. The financial
statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the
Statement of Cash Flows, and notes to the financial statements, including the
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted
and adapted by the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2017/18 as contained
in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017/18, and
the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of
the Secretary of State as relevant to Clinical Commissioning Groups in England (“the
Accounts Direction”).
In our opinion the financial statements:




give a true and fair view of the state of the CCG’s affairs as at 31 March 2018
and of its net operating expenditure for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health
and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017/18; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
National Health Service Act 2006 and the Accounts Direction issued
thereunder.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK)
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report. We are
independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Use of the audit report
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Newcastle
Gateshead CCG, as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:
 the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
 the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any
identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the
CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:
 the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Annual Report Direction made
under the National Health Service Act 2006; and
 the other information published together with the audited financial statements
in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if:
 in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the
guidance issued by NHS England; or
 we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the
CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision
which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or
 we issue a report in the public interest under schedule 7(1) of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014; or
 we make a written recommendation to the CCG under schedule 7(2) of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or
 we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ended 31 March 2018.
We have nothing to report in these respects.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal
control as the Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. The Accountable Officer is also responsible for ensuring the regularity
of expenditure and income.
The Accountable Officer is required to comply with the Department of Health and
Social Care Group Accounting Manual and prepare the financial statements on a
going concern basis, unless the CCG is informed of the intention for dissolution
without transfer of services or function to another entity. The Accountable Officer is
responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for the CCG to
prepare its accounts on the going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s
report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and
income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller
and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required
to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice,
having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller
and Auditor General in November 2017, as to whether the CCG had proper
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources
to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The
Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG
put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
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Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS
Newcastle Gateshead CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Cameron Waddell
Partner
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP

Salvus House
Aykley Heads
Durham
DH1 5TS

Date:

Page 92 of 93

Annual accounts

Mark Adams
Accountable Officer
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2018
Note

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

Other operating income
Total operating income

2

(662)
(662)

(1,194)
(1,194)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

3

6,120
789,010
275
795,405

5,593
716,194
285
722,072

794,743

720,878

4

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2018

1
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2018

Note
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

7
8

31st March 2018

31st March 2017

£'000

£'000
6,667
400
7,067

6,143
40
6,183

7,067

6,183

(50,738)
(50,738)

(47,890)
(47,890)

Assets less Liabilities

(43,671)

(41,707)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(43,671)
(43,671)

(41,707)
(41,707)

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities

9

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement
The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 22 May 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Mark Adams
Chief Officer

2
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018
General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 01 April 2017
Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

SOCNE

Net funding

SCF

Balance at 31 March 2018

(41,707)

(41,707)

(794,743)

(794,743)

792,779

792,779

(43,671)

(43,671)

General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 01 April 2016
Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating costs for the financial year

SOCNE

Net funding

SCF

Balance at 31 March 2017

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement

3

Total
reserves
£'000

Total
reserves
£'000

(42,899)

(42,899)

(720,878)

(720,878)

722,070

722,070

(41,707)

(41,707)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018
Note

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
(Increase) in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

7
9

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Outflow before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

8

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement

4

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

(794,743)
(524)
2,848
(792,419)

(720,878)
(1,220)
(192)
(722,290)

0

0

(792,419)

(722,290)

792,779
792,779

722,070
722,070

360

(220)

40

260

400

40
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2017-18 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained
in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to
Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group
Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies
adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered
material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.
Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
Pooled Budgets
Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act
2006 the Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the
pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
Joint operations are arrangements where contractual agreements are in place under which the Clinical Commissioning Group and one or more
other parties share control. Joint ventures have rights to assets and obligations in relation to liabilities. The Clinical Commissioning Group
accounts only for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the arrangement.
Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The only critical judgements are those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.2
1.3

1.4

1.4.1

1.4.2

1.5

1.6
1.6.1

1.6.2

1.7

1.8

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
The majority of transactions reported are based upon actual transactions, in some cases estimates are required when actual charges have not
been received. When this occurs the Clinical Commissioning Group calculates estimates taking account of the latest information available and
actual year to date transactions. The main estimate in 2017/18 related to prescribing expenditure which is two months in arrears and is based on
BSA profiling, the accrual within the accounts is £12.8m.
Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from Parliamentary funding.
Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the retirement, regardless
of the method of payment.
Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.8.1

1.9

1.10

1.11

1.12

1.12.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as
a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash management.
Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS
Resolution which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and, in return, receives
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are
charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of
trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired
or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·                Held to maturity investments;
·                Available for sale financial assets; and,
·                Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After
initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the
effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the
initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the Clinical Commissioning Group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value
through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in
expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount
of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

1.13

1.14

1.15

1.16

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax
on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost
of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would
have been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums
then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The DHSC Group accounting manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2017-18. These standards
are still subject to FREM adoption and early adoption is not therefore permitted.
·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments ( application from 1 January 2018)
·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
·                IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
·                IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 January 2021)
·             IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (application from 1 January 2018)
The impact of IFRS 16 is not yet estimable due to the standard being introduced in 2019-20 and detailed guidance not yet being available.
The application of the remaining Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2017-18, were they applied in that
year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue

Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2017-18
Total

2017-18
Admin

2017-18
Programme

2016-17
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

111
551
662

0
201
201

111
350
461

114
1,080
1,194

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of NHS
Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group and credited to the General Fund. Included in the note above is £84k revenue from
NHS England which does not form part of the drawdown.
Charitiable contributions represents funding received from British Heart Foundation for House of Care Project and British Lung
Foundation for Keep Active Project.
All revenue is from rendering of services.
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3. Employee benefits and staff numbers
3.1 Employee benefits

2017-18

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Gross employee benefits expenditure

5,059
494
557
1
9
6,120

3.1 Employee benefits

4,662
494
557
1
9
5,724

2016-17
Permanent
Employees
£'000

4,610
466
517
5,593

3.2 Average number of people employed

101

3.2 Average number of people employed

Total

90

8

248
0
0
248

Other
Number

94
2016-17
Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number

Other
£'000

4,362
466
517
5,345

2017-18
Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number
Total

397
0
0
0
0
397

Total

Total
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Other
£'000

86

7

Other
Number
4
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3.3 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules
of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share
of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical
Commissioning Group of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting
period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
3.3.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March
2018 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19,
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual
NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
3.3.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The
Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM
Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions are
published by HM Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed off
by the scheme actuary. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme
relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution
rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any required revisions
to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant
stakeholders.
For 2017-18, employers’ contributions of £557k (2016-17: £517k) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.38% of
pensionable pay and are included in the NHS pension line on note 3.1. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually
every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31
March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2012.
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4. Operating expenses

2017-18
Total
£'000

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

2017-18
Admin
£'000

2017-18
Programme
£'000

2016-17
Restated Total
£'000

5,006
1,114
6,120

3,027
1,114
4,141

1,979
0
1,979

4,426
1,167
5,593

Other costs
Purchase of Healthcare from other CCGs and NHS England
Purchase of Healthcare from foundation trusts
Purchase of Healthcare from other NHS trusts
Purchase of Healthcare from other government bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
External audit fees
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General Practice Commissioning
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Clinical negligence
Education, Training and Conferences
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Total other costs

5,339
504,901
1,273
1
111,965
13,956
265
123
0
338
18
901
2
52
81,514
276
67,686
284
127
8
256
0
789,285

3,293
46
0
0
0
0
265
54
0
184
10
303
2
52
0
0
0
243
127
8
101
0
4,688

2,046
504,855
1,273
1
111,965
13,956
0
69
0
154
8
598
0
0
81,514
276
67,686
41
0
0
155
0
784,597

6,161
503,999
1,016
1
101,069
13,736
271
55
136
335
49
1,464
4
84
84,756
235
1,487
403
121
10
251
837
716,479

Total operating expenses

795,405

8,829

786,576

722,072

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group assumed full responsibility of £66.7m delegated budgets to jointly commission GP services from 1st April 2017
which accounts for the increase in General Practice Commissioning Spend.
Included within Other Professional Fees is £44,665 (2016-17: £41,935) paid for internal audit services to Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust.
Included within Premises is £722k (2016-17: £1,357k) for rentals under operating leases paid to NHS Property Services which is reported in note 6.
Comparatives have been revised for Purchase of social care and Other professional fees to reflect new line headings with no impact on the total.
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5 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

16,343
15,861
97.05%

194,648
193,022
99.16%

13,975
13,487
96.51%

133,282
131,565
98.71%

3,332
3,250
97.54%

516,154
514,005
99.58%

3,660
3,580
97.81%

508,174
507,282
99.82%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group to pay 95% of invoices by the due
date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.
6. Operating Leases
6.1 As lessee
6.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

2017-18
Land
£'000

2017-18
Buildings
£'000
0
0

2017-18
Other
£'000

722
722

2017-18
Total
£'000
9
9

2016-17
Land
£'000

731
731

2016-17
Buildings
£'000
0
0

2016-17
Other
£'000

1,357
1,357

2016-17
Total
£'000
4
4

1,361
1,361

Whilst our arrangements with Community Health Partnerships Limited and NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years have not yet been
agreed . Consequently this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.
6.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

2017-18
Land
£'000

2017-18
Buildings
£'000
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

11

2017-18
Other
£'000
5
8
0
13

2017-18
Total
£'000
5
8
0
13

2016-17
Land
£'000

2016-17
Buildings
£'000
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

2016-17
Other
£'000
6
9
0
15

2016-17
Total
£'000
6
9
0
15
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7 Trade and other receivables

Current
31st March
2018
£'000

Current
31st March
2017
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

2,378
1,927
183
847
249
993
(17)
103
4
6,667

1,280
1,783
152
2,799
16
84
(15)
44
0
6,143

Total current

6,667

6,143

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to Clinical
Commissioning Groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

7.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

31st March
2018
£'000

31st March
2018
£'000

Total

DH Group
Bodies
243
28
120
391

31st March
2018
£'000
Non DH
Group
Bodies

27
12
86
125

31st March
2017
£'000
All
receivables
prior years

216
16
34
266

156
89
645
890

£87k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

31st March
2018
£'000
Non DH
Group
Bodies

7.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

31st March
2017
£'000
All
receivables
prior years

Balance at 01 April 2017

(15)

(11)

Amounts recovered during the year
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March 2018

3
(5)
(17)

7
(11)
(15)

All debts outstanding at 31 March 2018 overdue in excess of 6 months have been reviewed in respect of current position,
any outstanding queries and probability of settlement. Where it is perceived that there is high level of risk that the Clinical
Commissioning Group will be unable to recover these debts a bad debt provision has been created.

12

Newcastle Gateshead CCG - Annual Accounts 2017-18
8 Cash and cash equivalents
31st March
2018
£'000
40
360
400

31st March
2017
£'000
260
(220)
40

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

400
400

40
40

Balance at 31 March 2018

400

40

Balance at 01 April 2017
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2018

31st March
2018
£'000

9 Trade and other payables

31st March
2017
£'000

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

9,865
1,194
6,684
32,089
69
72
765
50,738

10,469
4,465
8,681
23,895
71
75
234
47,890

Total current

50,738

47,890

Other payables include £657k (2016-17: £88k) outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2018.
10 Financial instruments
10.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding therefore it is
not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more
limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting
standards mainly apply. NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or
invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than
being held to change the risks facing NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group in undertaking its
activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally
within the NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group's standing financial instructions and policies
agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical
Commissioning Group and internal auditors.
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10 Financial instruments cont'd
10.1 Financial assets
Loans and
Receivables
31st March
2018
£'000

Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2018

2,561
1,840
400
4
4,805
Loans and
Receivables
31st March
2017
£'000

Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2017

1,432
2,883
40
4,355

10.2 Financial liabilities

Other
31st March
2018
£'000
Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2018

11,059
39,538
50,597

Other
31st March
2017
£'000
Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Total at 31 March 2017

14,934
32,810
47,744
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11 Operating segments
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group only has one operating segment: commissioning of healthcare services.
12 Pooled budgets
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group has a pooled budget arrangement with Newcastle City Council for the Better
Care Fund, which the Council hosts. The Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the income and expenditure of the pool as
determined by the pooled budget agreement. The annual contribution to the pooled budget for 2017/18 was £21,431,000.
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group has a pooled budget arrangement with Gateshead Council for the Better Care
Fund, which the Council hosts. The Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the income and expenditure of the pool as
determined by the pooled budget agreement. The annual contribution to the pooled budget for 2017/18 was £15,277,000.
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group hosted a pooled budget arrangement with Gateshead Council for the provision
of an Integrated Community Equipment Service. NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group also has a pooled budget
arrangement with Gateshead Council where the Local Authority hosts the pooled budget for the Mental Capacity Act. NHS Newcastle
Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the income and expenditure of the pool as determined by the pooled
budget agreements for both of these arrangements. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group's share of the income and expenditure
handled by the pooled budgets in the financial year was £1,638,000.
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group shares of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial
year were:
2017-18
£'000

Income
Expenditure

0
38,346
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2016-17
£'000

0
37,645
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13 Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

2017-18
Payments
to Related
Party
£'000

Governing Body Member Related Party/Practice

Governing Body Member

Cruddas Park Surgery

Dr Guy Pilkington

Teams Medical Practice

Dr Mark Dornan

Academic Health Science Network
NHS North Tyneside CCG
Community Based Care Health Ltd
NHS England
Tyneside Mind
Central Gateshead Medical Group
Oxford Terrace & Rawling Road Medical Group
Streetwise Young Peoples Project

Dr Mark Dornan
Mark Adams
Dr Neil Morris / Dr Peter Ward
Michael Burke
Oliver Wood
Dr Peter Ward
Sheinaz Stansfield
Mandy Coppin

Other Related Practices
108 Rawling Road
Avenue Medical Practice
Beacon View Medical Centre
Benfield Park Medical Group (formerly 37a Heaton Road)
Bensham Family Practice
Betts Avenue Medical Centre
Bewick Road Surgery
Biddlestone Health Group
Birtley Medical Group
Blaydon GP Practice & Minor Injuries/illness unit
Bridges Medical Centre
Broadway Medical Centre
Brunton Park Health Centre
Chainbridge Medical Partnership
Crawcrook Surgery
Crowhall Medical Centre
Denton Park Medical Group
Denton Turret Medical Centre
Dilston Medical Centre
Falcon Medical Group
Fell Cottage Surgery
Fell Tower Medical Centre
Fenham Hall Medical Group
Glenpark Medical Centre
Gosforth Memorial Medical Centre
Grainger Medical Group incorporating Scotswood GP Practice
Grange Road
Heaton Road Surgery
Holly Medical Group
Hollyhurst
Holmside Medical Group
Longrigg Medical Centre
Metro Interchange Surgery
Millennium Family Practice
Newburn Surgery
Newcastle Medical Centre
Oldwell Surgery
Park Medical Group
Parkway Medical Group
Pelaw Medical Centre
Ponteland Road Health Centre
Primary Health Care Centre
Prospect Medical Group
Regent Medical Centre (formerly Elmfield Health Group)
Roseworth Surgery
Ryton Surgery
Saville Medical Group
Second Street Surgery
St Anthony's Health Centre
St. Albans Medical Group
Sunniside Surgery
The Grove Medical Group
The Medical Centre (Rowlands Gill)
The Surgery
Thornfield Medical Group
Throckley Primary Care
Walker Medical Group
West Road medical Centre
Westerhope Medical Group
Whickham Health Centre
Wrekenton Medical Group ( incorporating The Croft and High Street Practices)

31st March 2018

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£'000

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£'000

2016-17

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£'000

31st March 2017

Receipts
Payments
from
to Related Related
Party
Party
£'000
£'000

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£'000

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£'000

0

2,207

0

78

0

157

0

0

747

0

3

0

83

(141)

0

0

91
0
4,564
0
290
1,377
2,165
0

0
(114)
0
(3,688)
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
84
125
0

0
0
0
(379)
0
0
0
0

51
29
2,815
5
298
154
405
30

0
(265)
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
7
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

220
293
632
1,050
555
1,344
704
974
2,013
112
708
317
631
1,335
993
927
876
922
825
0
1,035
962
886
1,238
1,051
273
437
794
784
478
1,251
1,337
504
552
653
1,106
618
1,337
975
732
1,287
420
1,813
514
644
87
3,405
371
812
1,305
381
1,399
800
583
2,214
818
1,632
1,048
1,390
1,892
1,421

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

13
13
15
46
22
69
20
15
92
4
2
17
34
66
14
36
113
45
15
25
37
19
47
98
45
40
8
43
32
23
23
63
20
18
36
70
29
59
51
47
226
17
19
43
35
15
113
14
35
46
23
68
34
5
179
16
90
46
65
143
220

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

30
31
77
80
54
96
80
69
284
13
88
44
56
196
166
126
90
87
73
32
203
172
87
166
105
85
99
93
70
37
119
171
55
53
75
48
72
92
99
236
31
69
125
43
68
61
310
64
99
204
51
179
130
82
144
77
95
114
93
292
184

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Newcastle Gateshead GP member practices have carried out functions for NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group and remuneration has been paid to practices in recognition
of their contribution.
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group also commission GP practices to provide healthcare services to patients. NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group
assumed full responsibility of £66.7m delegated budgets to jointly commission GP services from 1st April 2017 which accounts for the increase in related party transactions.
The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
• Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
• Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust
• Northumberland, Tyne & Wear NHS Trust
• South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust
• North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust

£000
256,088
148,378
63,453
7,082
21,057

£000

0
0
0
0
0

£000
7,627
1,215
196
52
0

£000
894
962
16
0
10

£000
248,257
138,834
63,393
15,915
20,061

£000

0
0
0
0
0

£000
8,691
2,160
625
266
69

£000
1,080
921
0
0
0

NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group also has other non material transactions with other NHS related parties that include:
• NHS England, NHS Resolution and NHS Business Services Authority.
In addition, NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government
bodies. The majority of these transactions were with the Local Authorities to the value of £39,140,000 with Newcastle Council and £23,054,000 with Gateshead Council.
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14 Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group.
15 Losses
The total number of NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group losses , and their total value, was as follows:
Total Number
of Cases
2017-18
Number
55

Total Value of
Cases
2017-18
£'000
2

Total Number of
Cases
2016-17
Number
44

55

2

44

4

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2017-18
£'000
Target
800,116
0
799,454
0
0
10,622

2017-18
£'000
Performance
795,405
0
794,743
0
0
8,628

2017-18
£'000
Variance
4,711
0
4,711
0
0
1,994

Duty Achieved
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions

2016-17
£'000
Target
732,788
0
731,594
0
0
10,642

2016-17
£'000
Performance
722,072
0
720,878
0
0
9,182

2016-17
£'000
Variance
10,716
0
10,716
0
0
1,460

Duty Achieved
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

Administrative write-offs
Total

Total Value of
Cases
2016-17
£'000

4

Within the 2017/18 accounts no amounts have been written off as we are continuing to pursue these debts.
16 Financial performance targets
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

For 2017/18 the notified revenue resource amounts to Clinical Commissioning Groups per the allocations directions will be based on the “In Year” allocation, calculated as per the budget guidance.
Cumulative surplus in 2017/18 is £14,864k (comparator shown in table above as per the change in presentation).
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